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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
ISR

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five  ANEEBEAEPMIKEE Y 24 BERBEY

financial years, as extracted from the published audited consolidated financial ~ BEZE & 720 T » JhEsk B T3 2 K EZ G AT
statements and restated/reclassified as appropriate, is set out below: BER  WOKEEEY,/ EHHLE

For the year ended 31 December
HE+ZA=+—HLEFE
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
TE-FFE T —To-F —FE-o—F Z—B-NE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
T TET TFET FET FET

RESULTS ES
Profit/(loss) for the year NEEHR, (E5E) 39,482 (501,014) (228,015) (101,013) (163,587)
Attributable to: THIALE
Owners of the Company KARIEE A (25,198) (326,942) (196,061) (89,726) (142,893)
Non-controlling interests e RS 64,680 (174,072) (31,954) (11,287) (20,694)
39,482 (501,014) (228,015) (101,013 (163,587)
As at 31 December
R+-—A=+—H
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
—E-TF —F-—F —ZF-— o= ZEZNF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET FET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERAE
Non-current assets JEMENEE 805,870 593,571 353,441 264,594 152,597
Current assets MENEE 2,187,925 1,934,860 343,413 334,436 267,563
Current liabilities mENAE (1,656,639) (1,676,638) (341,292) (361,126) (302,467)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (96,766) (61,189) (14,997) (10,383) (4,775)
Net Assets BEFE 1,240,390 790,604 340,565 227,521 112,918
Attributable to: THIA LR
Owners of the Company RAREBA 1,049,978 764,589 528,776 418,027 333,984
Non-controlling interests JEPEAR RS 190,412 26,015 (188,211) (190,506) (221,066)
Total Equity RS 4EEE 1,240,390 790,604 340,565 207,521 112,918
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EREHE

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”), | hereby
present the operational results of Tesson Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
together with its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2024 to the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”).

Reflecting on the past year, we acknowledge the trials in the lithium-ion motive
battery industry. Despite a competitive environment marked by price wars and
fluctuating market demand, we remain optimistic about our future and the
resilience of our company.

While our financial performance this year has fallen short of expectations,
it is crucial to acknowledge the broader business environment in which we
operate. The market for lithium-ion motive batteries, particularly for electric
two-wheeled vehicles, small household appliances, and electric tools, is
experiencing rapid evolution, our commitment to quality and innovation
remains steadfast.

To position ourselves for future success, we are stepping up our investment
in research and development. Our focus is on boosting battery efficiency,
reducing costs, and enhancing safety features will help us maintain a
competitive edge. We believe that by prioritising innovation and product
quality, we can differentiate our products in a crowded marketplace.

Currently, demand for electric two-wheeled vehicles is on the rise, particularly
as consumers increasingly prioritise sustainable transportation options.
Additionally, the growing market for portable electric tools and smart
household appliances presents significant opportunities. We are strategically
aligning our product offerings to capture these emerging trends and meet the
evolving needs of our customers.

On top of self-enhancement, we are also actively pursuing partnerships with
key industry players to enhance our supply chain efficiency and expand our
market reach. Collaborations with manufacturers and technology firms will
enable us to leverage shared expertise and resources, fostering innovation and
driving down costs.

In conclusion, while the past year has posed challenges, we are confident
in our ability to adapt and thrive in the lithium-ion motive battery sector. Our
strategic focus on innovation, market expansion, and sustainability will position
us well for future growth.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
FERSE

APPRECIATION

I would like to take this opportunity to express my sincere gratitude to the
Board for their support, and for contributions made by the management
team and staff in the past year. Finally, |, hereby on behalf of the Board, the
management and all employees of the Group, would like to express our
heartfelt thanks for the long-time support and trust from the Shareholders,
business partners and customers.

Wei Mingren
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEE 2R WED AT

BUSINESS REVIEW

Driven by intensifying industrial competition, overcapacity, and changing
market dynamics, lithium ion battery market experienced a significant price
reduction by 20% in 2024.

In the key downstream market, being the new energy vehicles market,
production and sales quantity had been increased by approximately 35% in
2024. However, sales price of new energy vehicles, including certain leading
brands in the market generally experienced a 10% price drop, narrowing profit
margin for the new energy vehicle manufacturers, also clouding the pricing
strategy of lithium ion battery products.

While in the upstream market, raw material for lithium ion battery products was
in over-supply condition throughout the year, market price had been dropped
by 18-30%. Such reduction not only brought benefits to lithium ion battery
manufacturers, but also more intense industrial competition. The overcapacity
led to unsustainable pricing strategies. Sales price of the Group’s lithium ion
battery products was also adjusted to accommodate with industrial change.
Given the current production scale, the Group is not able to enjoy the benefit
of scale production as other leading lithium ion battery manufacturers did in
the PRC. Revenue for the year had been dropped by HK$62,446,000. Under
current market conditions, certain capacity enhancement plans of the plant in
Weinan, Shaanxi were postponed. The Group currently have an industrial land
in Lishui, Nanjing, which was planned to be developed into another production
base in Nanjing, had limited construction progress since the market downturn
in previous years. In view of the future market conditions and current
production capacity, the Group may consider different options to process
the industrial land in Lishui, Nanjing including disposal, leasing or auction as
detailed in Note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

Besides, a new lithium ion battery business standard was issued in the PRC
during the year in order to strengthen the standardised management of lithium
ion battery industry, guide the transformation of the industry, and promote
its high-quality development, by putting forward higher requirements on the
technological transformation progress and product quality, as well as setting
more stringent standards for performance indicators in terms of energy
density, product life cycle, capacity and tensile strength of various lithium
ion batteries material. The push for higher standard requirements reflects
a broader commitment to safety, sustainability, and performance. These
standards pose challenges for lithium ion battery manufacturers, including the
Group. Substantial resources had been allocated by the Group in research and
development for lithium ion battery products in order to further enhance their
quality and stability. We believe that adapting to these higher standards will be
better positioned to thrive in an increasingly competitive and environmentally-
conscious market.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEE 2R WED AT

Apart from self enhancement, the Group was also keen to cooperate with
other market participants for more business opportunities. In 2024, the
Group had tried to collaborate with a counterpart for a lithium ion battery
pack project regarding electric heavy goods vehicles in the PRC which was
in turn terminated on March 2025 as detailed in section headed “Events
after the reporting period” under Directors’ Report in this Annual Report.
due to the change in business environment and discrepancies in financial
risk management. In the future, the Group will continue to search for
new investment opportunities with suitable partners in respect of battery
production, energy storage technologies, raw materials provision and battery
recycling.

As at the year ended, HK$200,458,000 was receivable from the subsidiaries
disposed in previous year. Throughout the year, the management had put
considerable effort in collecting the debts. However, followed by the decease
of the ultimate beneficial owner of those companies, the debt collection
process had been prolonged. The Group will continue to negotiate with the
corresponding parties, assess the recoverability and consider to provide for
impairment when appropriate.

Prospect

In early 2025, several new energy vehicles manufacturers had already
imposed a discount package on their products including cash and other type
of subsidy, as well as some flexible payment methods including no down
payment and interest-free installments. The continuation of price competition
may result in further price reduction pressure to the upstream suppliers. The
lithium ion battery production market in the PRC in 2025 is expected to be
characterised by increased production capacity, technological advancements,
product sustainability, and evolving government policies. These trends will
shape the competitive landscape and influence investment opportunities
within the sector. The Group will continue to explore new opportunities and
develop in new energy market taking market expansion, strategic partnerships
and synergy effect into consideration, ultimately generate greater value to the
shareholders in the future.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue and gross profit ratio

During the year, the Group’s revenue was derived from its Lithium lon Motive
Battery Business, which had been decreased from HK$129,159,000 to
HK$66,713,000 mainly due to deteriorated market condition. Gross profit
narrowed as a result of adjustments to product price.

Other loss and income, net
Other loss and income, net for the year amounted to loss of HK$27,332,000

(2023: income of HK$23,857,000), mainly represented impairment loss on
property, plant and equipment of HK$19,250,000.

8 Tesson Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024

BREGRA  AERRTENEEMMIZRESE
BIE LAMBEZSEBESE - RZZT_MUF - K
EELERARTHEHENEFEMERTE)
BIEE BAESFRWIE  ZEBE AR EBRE
B RMGRREESER T _AF= A&
(FBRAEREZTSREE(HEHBSIHE]|—
) o KRR AEFEEHEFRREAEEHES
AR~ RERERIT « R RHMERE R BB ELE
BRI ERE -

RER  RBAFEHENBRRNEKEERA
200,458,000/ 7T - NERN » EEEIHHEUWE
e R BEZSELANGRRERSEAR AR
o EEREIBREEER - AEEEEERE
BAATEITER - FHEIREYE - WREERFE
EEHEREEE -

o

ARRE

il

RIZBZRFY SEHERTERER L
MERSBENEMBEREMOITINIR - AR
BREZANEL2EDMERENFN - BB
FHFER LSRR L R E R — P ER
THREN  —FT-_hFTEERTFEBEETS
R 2IMERRTT - RIS - EmARENE
RBFBRRREERNH - 2FBEHELHFR
RIFEBEFANKERSE - AEEHEETS
BR - BRAERHARLBRIE  HERR
FBYHFEERM ST ERE - MBARRARER
BIEEAEIE -

Bt 75 [0
sk & EF=E

RAFE  AEENKRSKRAEHETENEN
7% 0 #1129,159,00078 7T, 2 & 66,713,00078
T EBERTIRENL - ERHREREKARE
e o

HtsE R WA EE
AFEEAMEE NI FEE & E1E27,332,000/8

T(ZZ =4 : g A23,857,00087T) TE A
VI B MR 2 BB K 19,250,000/8 7T °



N

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEE 2R WED AT

Distribution and selling expenses

During the year, the Group incurred distribution and selling expenses at
approximately HK$4,247,000 (2023: HK$4,760,000) which mainly consisted
of staff costs and entertainment expenses.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses increased from HK$117,525,000 to HK$129,468,000,
which mainly represented depreciation of HK$64,382,000 (2023:
HK$47,148,000) and staff cost of HK$18,246,000 (2023: HK$22,252,000).

Finance costs

Finance costs for the year decreased to approximately HK$2,908,000 (2023:
HK$4,777,000) due to partial settlement of other borrowings during the year.

Basic and diluted loss per share

Basic and diluted loss per share in the year ended 31 December 2024 were
both HK69.54 cents (2023: HK60.48 cents).

In anticipation of the funds required for the development of the Lithium lon
Motive Battery Business, the Board does not recommend the payment of a
final dividend for the year.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group’s bank and cash balances amounted to approximately
HK$9,552,000 (31 December 2023: HK$2,598,000). The gearing ratio of the
Group (which was expressed as a percentage of total borrowings over total
equity) was 27.42% as at 31 December 2024 (31 December 2023: 21.15%).

EMPLOYMENT

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had 123 employees (2023: 294), most
of whom were working in the Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC. During
the year, the total employees’ costs including Directors’ emoluments were
approximately HK$24,864,000 (2023: HK$31,129,000).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEE 2R WED AT

The Group has developed its human resources policies and procedures based
on performance and merit. Employees are rewarded on a performance basis
within the general framework of its salary and bonus system. Discretionary
bonus is linked to the performance of the Group as well as individual
performance. Benefits include staff accommodation, medical schemes, share
option scheme, Mandatory Provident Fund for employees in Hong Kong
and state-sponsored retirement plans for employees in the PRC. The Group
has also developed training programs for its management and employees to
promote career advancement of the staffs.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

Since sales and purchase for the Lithium lon Motive Battery Business are
denominated in RMB, the management considers that the Group’s exposure
to exchange risks is minimal. However, the Company faces foreign exchange
risks when it conducts fund raising activities in Hong Kong (in HK$) and remits
funds to its subsidiaries in the PRC (in RMB). The Board will continue to
monitor foreign exchange exposure in the future.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any material contingent
liabilities (2023: nil).

CHARGES ON GROUP’S ASSETS

Details of the charges on the Group’s assets are set out in Notes 17 and 33 to
the consolidated financial statements.

COMMITMENTS

Details of the commitments of the Group are set out in Note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2024, neither the Company nor any of
its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT “

EENEREEAEBFN

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wei Mingren

Mr. Wei Mingren, aged 30, was appointed as an executive Director, Chairman
of the Board, a member of the Remuneration Committee, Chairman of the
Nomination Committee, and Chairman of the Internal Control Committee on
20 October 2024. He is also the authorised representative of the Company.

Mr. Wei Mingren was awarded a bachelor’s degree majoring in financial
management in Tianjin University of Commerce in 2017. He joined the Group
in 2017 and participated in finance and operation management of the Group’s
Lithium lon Motive Battery Business. From 10 January 2025, he and Mr. Yan
Haiting served as Co-Chairmen of the Board until Mr. Yan Haiting resigned
as an executive Director on 1 March 2025. He is currently the vice president,
executive director, and/or general manager of a number of subsidiaries of
the Company. Since August 2024, Mr. Wei Mingren has served as director
of Nanfang Black Sesame Group Co., Ltd.* (@ H 2 MEBRMHERA
al), a company the shares of which are listed on Shenzhen Stock Exchange
(stock code: 000716) (“Nanfang Black Sesame”). He has also served as a
director of Double Key International Limited, the controlling shareholder of the
Company from March 2024.

Mr. Wei Mingren is the nephew of Mr. Wei Qingwen, an executive Director.

Mr. Wei Qingwen

Mr. Wei Qingwen, aged 64, was appointed as an executive Director of the
Company on 20 October 2024. He graduated from Renmin University of China
majoring in business management. He obtained the title of senior economist
and was a representative of the Ninth and Tenth National People’s Congress
of the People’s Republic of China. From 2004 to 2024, he was the Chairman
of Nanfang Black Sesame, and is currently its Honorary Chairman.

Mr. Wei Qingwen is a well-known private entrepreneur in the country. He was
the founder of Guangxi Southern Children’s Food Factory* (EFiE T RER
mmE) back in August 1984, and the factory was transformed into Guangxi
Black Five Food Group Company* (B ZRERMEE QA in 1994, In
2001, Guangxi Black Five Food Group Company* was named a national key
leading enterprise in agricultural industrialization* (2 2 (¢ Bl S 2558 1>
%), Under the leadership of Mr. Wei Qingwen for four decades, the group has
developed into a large-scale enterprise group with Nanfang Black Sesame as
the core holding company, 45 subsidiaries and 10 associated companies.

Mr. Wei Qingwen is the uncle of Mr. Wei Mingren and the spouse of Ms.
Cheng Hung Mui, who was (i) an executive Director prior to her resignation,
and (i) is the controlling shareholder of the Company, who is beneficially
interested in approximately 61.81% of the issued share capital of the
Company via Double Key International Limited, a wholly-owned company of
Ms. Cheng. Mr. Wei Qingwen is therefore deemed or taken to be interested in
all the shares of the Company in which Ms. Cheng is interested.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEREEAEBFN

Mr. Chan Wei

Mr. Chan Wei (“Mr. Chan”), aged 46, has been the chief financial officer,
company secretary and authorised representative of the Company since 7
March 2016 and has been appointed as an executive Director of the Company
on 28 July 2021. He is also a supervisor of a subsidiary of the Group. Mr.
Chan is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.
Mr. Chan obtained the degree of a Bachelor of Science in applied accounting
from the Oxford Brookes University. He has over 22 years of experience in
auditing, accounting and financial advisory. Before joining the Company, Mr.

Chan worked in a listed company as financial controller.

Ms. Yu Xiaolei

Ms. Yu Xiaolei (“Ms. Yu”), aged 40, was appointed as an executive Director
of the Company on 1 November 2023. She was awarded a master’s degree
in architecture (professional) in the University of Auckland, New Zealand, in
2011. Ms. Yu served as sustainable building appraiser at GWS — Green World
B (b R) KR AR A 7)) from December 2010 to May
2016, mainly engaged in green building evaluation (including but not limited
to conceptual design, assessment standard for green building, and leading
energy and environmental design (or LEED) evaluation), as well as low carbon
planning. She later served as an administrative manager at Beijing Anjie Asset
Management Co., Ltd.* (bt RZ & EEERH B R A F]) from April 2018 to
August 2020. Ms. Yu has over 5 years of experience in green building and

Solutions* (F B

low-carbon planning.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wang Jinlin

Mr. Wang Jinlin (“Mr. Wang”), aged 60, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company on 24 March 2015. He is a member of
the audit committee, the remuneration committee, the nomination committee
and the internal control committee of the Company. Mr. Wang graduated
from Zhejiang University and obtained a bachelor’s degree in 1984. He is
a senior engineer and used to serve as deputy general manager of Jiaxing
Silk Spinning Factory* (#4545 %), deputy general manager and general
manager of Zhejiang Jinying Silk Spinning Co., Ltd.* (L& E44 B R A7),
and deputy general manager of Zhejiang Jinying Holding Limited, possessing
rich experience in corporate management and practice. He was a member of

CPPC of Jiaxing, a director of Chinese Silk Industry Association* (Ff B #4 43

T Z1#®) and vice chairman of the silk spinning branch of the Chinese Silk

Industry Association.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT “

EENEREEAEBFN

Dr. Ng Ka Wing

Dr. Ng Ka Wing (“Dr. Ng”), aged 68, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director of the Company on 8 March 2016. He is the chairman
of the remuneration committee and a member of the audit committee, the
nomination committee and the internal control committee of the Company.
Dr. Ng received a Doctor Honoris Causa of Business Administration in
Manufacturing and Services from International American University in April
2019. In the same year, he is elevated as the honorary life chairman of Hong
Kong Bus Suppliers Association. Dr. Ng has extensive experience in the
manufacturing of motor vehicles. He is now the managing director of a bus
manufacturer.

Mr. See Tak Wah

Mr. See Tak Wah (“Mr. See”), aged 61, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company on 27 January 2017. He is the
chairman of the audit committee and a member of the remuneration
committee, the nomination committee and the internal control committee of
the Company. Mr. See graduated from the Management School of Waikato
University in New Zealand with first class honours in Bachelor of Management
Studies. He is a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Australia
and New Zealand, a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Directors.

Mr. See has over 38 years of experience in financial and general management
as he previously worked as the regional business controller of Nokia Mobile
Phones Asia Pacific, the managing director of Nokia Mobile Phones Hong
Kong, the chief operating officer of First Mobile Group Holdings Limited,
and held key management positions in the North Asia offices of Philips and
Siemens. He was appointed as an independent non-executive director,
chairman of the audit committee, a member of the remuneration committee
and the nomination committee of Enviro Energy International Holdings Limited
(Stock Code: 01102) from August 2020 to July 2021.

Mr. See currently runs his own boutique management consultancy practice
focusing on business strategies formulation and transformation consultation.
In addition, he is currently an independent non-executive director, chairman
of the audit committee, and a member of the nomination committee and the
remuneration committee of Lever Style Corporation (Stock Code: 01346), as
well as the independent non-executive director, chairman of the remuneration
and appraisal committee, and a member of the audit committee of Laopu
Gold Co., Ltd. (Stock Code: 06181).
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EENEREEAEBFN

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Tin Kong

Mr. Tin Kong (“Mr. Tin”), aged 64, had been appointed as the executive
Director of the Company and the chairman of the Board since 27 August
2015, and the chief executive officer of the Company on 1 August 2019.
He had been an authorised representative, the chairman of the nomination
committee and internal control committee, and a member of remuneration
committee of the Company since March 2016. Following his resignation from
the Board and from the position as the chief executive officer on 20 October
2024, Mr. Tin ceased to act as the above roles and was appointed as the
deputy chief executive officer of the Company. Mr. Tin holds directorships
in certain subsidiaries of the Company. He was a director of Double Key
International Limited, the controlling shareholder of the Company, until
20 March 2024. He graduated from the Department of Economics and
Management in Beijing Academy of Cultural Administration* (1t = (b & Ef &
BERKBEEEER).

Mr. Chen Jun

Mr. Chen Jun (“Mr. Chen”), aged 57, has been employed as the general
manager of a subsidiary of the Group since March 2022, and is responsible
for management and operation of the Lithium lon Motive Battery Business. Mr.
Chen holds a master’s degree in Mathematics and System Engineering from
the National University of Defense Technology. He was admitted as a Certified
Quality Engineer and a Certified Quality Manager of the American Society of
Quality, also obtained the qualification of Certified Six Sigma Black Belt in
2008. He is also a Certified Management Accountant (CMA) by the Institute of
Management Accountants. Mr. Chen has over 37 years of working experience
in new energy company operation in the PRC and overseas.

Mr. Niu Wen Tao

Mr. Niu Wen Tao (“Mr. Niu”), aged 40, has been employed as the deputy
general manager of a subsidiary of the Group since April 2016 and currently
served as sales director since 2022, and is responsible for product design,
development and technical management of battery packs, and sales of
battery packs and cell products. Mr. Niu holds a bachelor degree in Northwest
University. He has over 17 years of working experience in design and
development of battery pack products.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEHREE

The Board is pleased to present their report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in the Bermuda, and
its principal place of business in Hong Kong is Room 401A, Empire Centre, 68
Mody Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in Lithium lon Motive Battery Business during
the year.

The principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements. Further discussion and analysis of these
activities as required by Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622
of The Laws of Hong Kong), can be found in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” in this Annual Report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment during the year are
set out in Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND USE OF PROCEEDS

As at 31 December 2024, the Company’s issued share capital is
HK$21,968,522 and the total number of issued ordinary shares is
219,685,228 shares of HK$0.1 each.

Rights Issue

On 18 September 2023, the Company approved the rights issue on the basis
of three (3) rights share for every four (4) existing shares held on the record
date to the qualifying shareholders of a maximum of 1,112,615,025 rights
share at the subscription price of HK$0.1 per rights share (the “Rights Issue”)
as detailed in the prospectus of the Company dated 10 January 2024 (the
“Prospectus”). On 1 February 2024, the Rights Issue was completed and
598,365,583 rights shares were issued and allotted by the Company. Gross
proceeds raised from the Rights Issue are approximately HK$59.3 million and
the net proceeds raised after expenses are approximately HK$57.9 million. Net
proceeds from the Rights Issue were applied as follow. Amount for intended
use of proceeds was adjusted proportionally to reflect the actual subscription
results.
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Proportionated
amount to

the intended
use of proceeds
as mentioned in

Net proceeds

the Prospectus utilised
REBRERRLZ
FrSRIERZ
RUEGIFAESRE EBAREFER
HK$000 HK$000
FET FET
(i) Development of Lithium Modification of current facilities including purchase, 5,829 60
lon Motive Battery replacement, testing and/or adjustment of machinery
Business
BRI TE S WERGRE - RERE - i AR AR
EHEs B
Modification and relocation of machines and 583 239
equipment, enhancement of work flow and logistics
upon further review
E MR B RS Kk - PN — P ma R E TIER
[EYSE b
Alteration of factory premises (including construction 2,331 -
of staff canteen and addition of north-gate) and
current steam facility
W T Y (BIEEE B Ta=E RNty KRG
KRR
Potential purchase of factory premise currently used 2,914 -
by the Group
A EAREE B AR IR E
Material cost, staff cost, utility and overhead cost of 23,314 34,639
the factory
TRREIM R A « B ITAA « DA S EREERA
(i)  General working Rent for factory and dormitory, payroll, electricity, 3,179 3,179
capital utility including steam and electricity and other office
cost in the PRC
—REEES RPBEHIHmEESHES T8 BH 2BFE
(BREERLEN) REMPRERR
Rent for office and dormitory, payroll and MPF in 318 318
Hong Kong
BEARNEREFEHE  FekwiEe
Repayment for account payables 2,332 2,332

BIE EARRK
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Proportionated
amount to

the intended
use of proceeds

as mentioned in Net proceeds

the Prospectus utilised
REBRERRLZ
FrSRIERZ
RUEGIFAESRE EBAREFER
HK$000 HK$000
T T
(i)  Repayment of loan Other borrowings with outstanding amount of 17,115 17,148
approximately HK$52.8 million as at 31 December
2022 as mentioned in the 2022 Annual Report
EREMN R CFFRAANEMEE(RZEF+ =
A=+—HHRAREESRELR52808E7T)
57,915 57,915

With the fact of market downturn for battery products in the PRC in the year,
modification for current facilities was not in urgent need and was proponed.
The management had utilised the corresponding amount for the purchase of
factory premise and modification of current facility to settle the operation costs
which included material cost, staff cost and other overhead. As at the date of
this report, net proceeds from Rights Issue were fully utilised.

Share Subscription

On 20 September 2024, the Company entered into the subscription
agreement with Aerospace Lithium Battery (Hong Kong) Co., Limited
(“ALBHK”) to conduct Share Subscription (as defined and detailed in section
headed “Events after the reporting period”) which was to allot and issue
120,000,000 subscription shares at the subscription price of HK$0.10 per
subscription share. The Company intended to apply the net proceeds to
support the Group’s operation for approximately four months for both Hong
Kong head office and the production base in the PRC. On 7 October 2024,
the Share Subscription was completed and 120,000,000 new ordinary shares
was issued to ALBHK by the Company. The net proceeds after deduction of
expenses amounted to approximately HK$11,740,000 had been fully utilised as
intended as at the date of this report.
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Capital Reorganisation

The shareholders had approved the Share Consolidation, Capital Reduction
and Sub-division (as defined below) as stated below at the special general
meeting held on 13 December 2024.

(i) every ten (10) issued and unissued existing shares with par value of
HK$0.1 each be consolidated into one (1) consolidated share with par
value of HK$1.0 each (“Share Consolidation”);

(i) immediately following the Share Consolidation becoming effective,
any fractional consolidated share in the issued share capital of the
Company arising from the Share Consolidation be cancelled, and the
par value of each issued consolidated share be reduced from HK$1.0 to
HKS$0.1 by cancelling the paid-up share capital to the extent of HK$0.9
per issued consolidated share, so that following such reduction, each
issued consolidated share shall become one new share with par value of
HK$0.1 each (“Capital Reduction”). The credit arising from the Capital
Reduction be applied towards offsetting the accumulated losses of
the Company as at the effective date of the Capital Reduction, thereby
reducing the accumulated losses of the Company; and

(i) immediately following the Capital Reduction becoming effective, the sub-
division whereby each authorised but unissued consolidated share be
subdivided into ten (10) authorised but unissued new shares with par

value of HK$0.1 each (“Sub-division”).

The above became effective on 17 December 2024.
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RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during
the year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity and
Note 28 to the consolidated financial statements. The Company had no
distributable reserves as at 31 December 2024.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Wei Mingren (Chairman)
(appointed on 20 October 2024)

Mr. Wei Qingwen (appointed on 20 October 2024)

Mr. Chan Wei

Ms. Yu Xiaolei

Mr. Tin Kong (resigned on 20 October 2024)

Ms. Cheng Hung Mui (resigned on 20 October 2024)

Ms. Liu Liu (resigned on 20 October 2024)

Mr. Yan Haiting (appointed as an executive Director on 20 October 2024 and
as the Co-Chairman on 10 January 2025, and resigned on 1 March 2025)

Mr. Xu Qian (appointed on 10 January 2025 and
resigned on 1 March 2025)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Dr. Ng Ka Wing

Mr. See Tak Wah

Mr. Wang Jinlin

By virtue of bye-law 84 of the bye-laws of the Company (the “Bye-laws”), Mr.
Chan Wei, Dr. Ng Ka Wing and Mr. See Tak Wah, shall retire by rotation and
being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company.

By virtue of bye-law 83 of the Bye-laws, Mr. Wei Qingwen and Mr. Wei
Mingren shall hold office only until the forthcoming annual general meeting and
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting
has a service contract which is not determinable by the Group within one year
without payment of compensation (other than statutory compensations).
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. Wei Qingwen and Mr. Wei Mingren, each an executive Director, entered
into a service agreement with the Company for a term of 3 years commencing
from 20 October 2024.

Ms. Yu Xiaolei, an executive Director, entered into a service agreement with
the Company for a term of 2 years commencing from 1 October 2023.

Mr. Chan Wei, an executive Director, entered into service agreement with the
Company for a term of 3 years commencing from 28 July 2021.

Mr. Wang Jinlin, an independent non-executive Director, has entered into a
service agreement with the Company for a term of 2 years commencing from
24 March 2015.

Dr. Ng Ka Wing and Mr. See Tak Wah, both of whom are independent non-
executive Directors, were appointed on 8 March 2016 and 27 January 2017,
respectively, without service agreement and specific term.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER FERRRHMALTRRS REER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN eEERAR
THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2024, according to the register kept by the Company R-T-—mE+=-A=+—H - RIEARQFIZ
pursuant to Section 336 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571  EA5 R EIEEM (B A EPIES715 ) ([ BE R
of the Laws of Hong Kong) (“SFO”) and, so far as is known to the Directors, & 1{&4l |) E336 K E S L MA RS ES R
the persons or entities who had an interest or a short position in the shares 41 - WAABIRDKATEIR D ([BRE )R EFE
or underlying shares of the Company (the “Shares”) which would fall to be  IBIEZESF K EA S IE&HIEXVERE2 X E 37 Bl & M)
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part ZAAFIRE Y AR @ KEEREEESE
XV of the SFO or who were, directly or indirectly, interested in 5% or more  {F{A[{E50 T B AA Fls A EBFMEMEKE A
of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all  BIAYIRER K @3 ZRER (] fE RIRR AN E B sk A 78
circumstances at general meetings of the Company, or of any other company 2% %5 B 7K 27 (T {a] B B # 2 5% 3 LA s B9 A+
which is a member of the Group, or in any options in respect of such share  s{ELELIT :

capital are as follows:

Long positions sy
Number of Percentage of the
issued ordinary total issued
Name of substantial Shares held/ share capital
Shareholder Note Capacity underlying Shares of the Company
FFERITEER EAEARERT
TERRHSE BB Wi 54 RO EA RABEz2ADL
Wei Qingwen 7 Interest of spouse 135,781,543 61.81%
BiFX [N 2
Cheng Hung Mui 1 Interest of controlled corporation 135,781,543 61.81%
4T 18 RIEHER 2 R
Double Key International Limited 7 Beneficial owner 135,781,543 61.81%
BEEEEBRAT EmEA
Li Yuwei Beneficial owner 19,499,700 8.88%
TERIE BB A
Note Kzt

1 The entire issued share capital of Double Key International Limited is wholly 1 BEREAER AR Z2IEETRARNTES

owned by Ms. Cheng Hung Mui, spouse of Mr. Wei Qingwen who is an executive EENENRBBAIE LT 2EES - Bt -
Director of the Company. Therefore, Ms. Cheng Hung Mui and Mr. Wei Qingwen IBIEFES LEE GG - BAEL T REFTAE
are deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Double Key International AR AREEBREERARMBEROFHEE#
Limited pursuant to the SFO. o
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the Company has not
been notified by any persons (other than the Directors and chief executive
of the Company, whose interests are set out in the section “Directors’ and
chief executive’s interests and short position in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures” below), who had interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosable to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITION IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which were required to be notified to
the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which the Directors and chief executive were
deemed or taken to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the register
therein, or were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix C3 (the “Model Code”) to the Rules
of Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”) were as follows:

(i) Long positions in the issued Shares

B EXPREEIN  RZTE_ME+_A=+—
B SEENAL(MEREARBEEREET
BAE  BEZEGEINTXEERTET
BABRED - MR RMESF 2 #es KRR ]
—E)HMEARRA - ERAR R M A8
RRAREE S B RGIFEXVEEE2 R F30 |
ERXARAARRRIREZ s SORR - JIRIEES
KB GHIFIBOIHFRERNR B AN BFEZERL
AR 2 R SORE ©

EEREBRITHASRKRA - HEKR
RESFZEERAR

RZZB-_MF+-_A=+—B ARREEFRK
TETRABRARASEEMEEEE(EE
RBEFLHEGRMEXVE) 2By - RN &
ESP B EAREE S M E GG FEXVERET
R8N BEAMEARARANBALHARIAARA
m (B3R ]) 2 e ok R (BIERIERE 7 &4
ERPIEBGRXEERTZTRA BRI RAE
ERBRAZEBIAR)  IRBEESFMMEK
P13 352 1A BN G Pl 2 B FC i 2 #E
Foxm - RERBBRZAES EMARRN( LR
B D KISXC3MTEl e LM BT AERETERR S
ERZEST RI([FRESF R D BRE AR A KB P
ZRESNORRIAT

(i) REBITROZHE

Percentage of

Number of the total issued
Capacity or issued ordinary share capital
Name of Director Note nature of interests Shares held of the Company
e 1T HAEDTE BT
EEHA Wi SHRSERMEE ZRRHE RABEADLL
Wei Qingwen 1 Interest of spouse 135,781,543 61.81%
BIENX i i
Note Wiat
1 The entire issued share capital of Double Key International Limited is 1 BEEEBRARZ 2B FHITRAHH

wholly owned by Ms. Cheng Hung Mui, spouse of Mr. Wei Qingwen who
is an executive Director of the Company. Therefore, Ms. Cheng Hung Mui
and Mr. Wei Qingwen are deemed to be interested in the Shares held by
Double Key International Limited pursuant to the SFO.
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(ii) Long positions in the shares of the associated corporations

(i) HAEBEIERAZFE

Percentage
of interest in

Name of Number of the associated
Name of Director Nature of interests associated corporation shares held corporation
{LAEE L E RS
EEHA EmME LB A8 FriFR & E ZEDH
Wei Qingwen Interest of spouse Double Key International Limited 100 100%
EIEX BB #e s e S NG]
Apart from the foregoing, as at 31 December 2024, none of the Directors B EXFrit&E N - RZF_MF+ A=+ —

nor the chief executive of the Company had or was deemed to have any
interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures
of the Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO) which were required (i) to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests or short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO); or (i) pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to
be entered in the register referred to therein; or (i) are otherwise required to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Share Option Scheme

To enable the Company to grant share options to eligible participants as
incentives or rewards for their contributions to the success of the Group,
in the annual general meeting of the Company held on 5 July 2022, a new
share option scheme (the “Scheme”) valid for 10 years was adopted. The
terms of the Scheme are in line with the provisions of Chapter 17 of the
Listing Rules. Under the Scheme, the Board may grant options to employees
(full-time or part-time) and directors (excluding independent non-executive
directors) (“Eligible Participants”). The basis of eligibility of each Eligible
Participants shall be determined by the Board taking into account such
factors as the Board may at its discretion consider appropriate. The Directors
will assess the eligibility of the Eligible Participants based on their general
working performance, time commitment, working experience, responsibilities
and employment conditions according to the prevailing market practice and
industry standard, or where appropriate, contribution or potential contribution
to the revenue, profits or business development of the Group.

B SMEEZERARAEBITRABRARE N
HiREAE (T8 R 5 LR RDIFEXVER) 2 ik
0~ AR R EFFHEE HBRIEEA ()RIZ
&5 MR GRDIEXVEET R8O BREANE
ARm MRz ERgAR (BRERERE SR
HIE 101 BRGSO B (FR R 2 s 30K
B) ¢ SRR E 75 M E DI F352{R AR
ZIGRAT 2 B ROt P s SRR ¢ S RIBAR
ETRIZBRG AN R MR F  EmBORR ©

PR A 80 15 R
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In each grant of options, the Board may at its discretion determine the specific
exercise period and exercise price. The exercise price shall not be less
than the higher of: (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of granting the offer, which
must be a business day; (i) the average closing price of the Shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the 5 business days
immediately preceding the date of granting the offer; and (iii) the nominal value
of a Share on the date of granting the offer.

More details on the Scheme are contained in the circular of the Company
dated 31 May 2022, its terms are also published on 9 June 2022 on the
respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

As at 31 December 2024, the total number of Shares available for issue
under the Scheme was 12,364,937 Shares which represented 10% of the
total number of ordinary Shares in issue at the date of passing the relevant
resolution and adjusted to reflect the effect of Capital Reorganisation effective
on 17 December 2024. The number of Shares in respect of which options
may be granted to any individual is not permitted to exceed 1% of the issued
share capital of the Company for the time being.

As at the date of this report, no share option has been granted by the
Company under the Scheme.

CHANGES OF DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes of Directors’
information are set out below.

On 20 March 2024, Mr. Tin Kong ceased to be the director of Double Key
International Limited, the controlling shareholder of the Company.

On 20 October 2024, Mr. Tin Kong resigned from the Board and from the
position as the chief executive officer, hence ceased to act as the authorised
representative, the chairman of the nomination committee and internal control
committee, the member of remuneration committee, and the chief executive
officer of the Company. He was appointed as the deputy chief executive
officer of the Company on the same day.
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Ms. Cheng Hui Mui and Ms. Liu Liu resigned as an executive Director on 20
October 2024.

On 20 October 2024, Mr. Wei Mingren was appointed as an executive
Director, Chairman of the Board, a member of the Remuneration Committee,
Chairman of the Nomination Committee, and Chairman of the Internal Control
Committee for an initial term of 3 years and would continue thereafter unless
and until a notice of termination is served by either party. He is also entitled to
receive a director’s fee of HK$180,000 per annum and salary of RMB222,000
per annum, together with any other emolument. From 10 January 2025, he
and Mr. Yan Haiting served as Co-Chairmen of the Board until Mr. Yan Haiting
resigned as an executive Director on 1 March 2025. He has also served as a
director of Double Key International Limited, the controlling shareholder of the
Company.

On 20 October 2024, Mr. Wei Qingwen was appointed as the executive
Director for an initial term of 3 years and would continue thereafter unless
and until a notice of termination is served by either party. He is also entitled
to receive a director’s fee of HK$180,000 per annum together with any other
emolument.

On 20 October 2024, Mr. Yan Haiting was appointed as the executive Director
for an initial term of 3 years and would continue thereafter unless and until a
notice of termination is served by either party. He is also entitled to receive
a director’s fee of HK$180,000 per annum and salary of HK$1,620,000 per
annum, together with any other emolument. On 10 January 2025, he was
appointed as the Co-Chairman of the Board. On 1 March 2025, he resigned as
an executive Director and Co-Chairman of the Board.

On 10 January 2025, Mr. Xu Qian was appointed as the executive Director
for an initial term of 3 years and would continue thereafter unless and until a
notice of termination is served by either party. He is also entitled to receive a
director’s fee of HK$180,000. He resigned from the Board on 1 March 2025.

Mr. See Tak Wah has been appointed and is currently serving as the
independent non-executive director, chairman of the remuneration and
appraisal committee, and a member of the audit committee of Laopu Gold
Co., Ltd. (Stock Code: 06181) with effect from 27 June 2024.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, there were no changes of
Directors’ information required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of
the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year, none of the Directors had any interests in competing business
of the Company which was required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 8.10 of
the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBT SECURITIES

Save as disclosed in this Directors’ report, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable any
Directors (including their spouses or children under 18 years of age) to have
any right to subscribe for securities of the Company or any of its associated
corporations as defined in the SFO or to acquire benefits by means of
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of the Company or any other body
corporate.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER’S INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS

As at the end of the year ended 31 December 2024 or at any time during
the year, (a) there was no contract of significance between the Company or
any of its subsidiary companies, and a controlling shareholder or any of its
subsidiaries; and (b) there was no contract of significance for the provision of
services to the Company or any of its subsidiaries by a controlling shareholder
of the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

As at the end of the year ended 31 December 2024 or at any time during
the year, there was no contract of significance in relation to the Company’s
business, to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party,
subsisted, and in which a Director had, whether directly or indirectly, a material
interest.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

As at the date of this report, Dr. Ng Ka Wing, Mr. See Tak Wah and Mr. Wang
Jinlin served as the independent non-executive directors of the Company.

Pursuant to the code provision B.2.3 of Appendix C1 of the Listing Rules,
any further appointment of independent non-executive directors serving
more than 9 years should be subject to a separate resolution to be approved
by shareholders. Dr. Ng has been serving the Board for more than 9 years.
To comply with code provision B.2.3, Dr. Ng will retire voluntarily and will
offer himself for re-election as independent non-executive director at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

Considering Dr. Ng’s extensive experience in the manufacturing of motor
vehicles, he has provided sound advice and expresses independent views
on the Company’s matters, making invaluable contributions to the Company.
Taking into account the foregoing factors and the independent scope of work
of Dr. Ng in the past years, the Board believes that the continued tenure of Dr.
Ng will bring considerable stability to the Board and the Board has benefited
greatly from the presence of Dr. Ng who has comprehensive understandings
to the Group’s business through his years of service and thus able to bring
valuable insight into the Group.

Based on the board diversity policy of the Company, the Board is of the
view that Dr. Ng can contribute to the diversity of the Board, in particular, his
educational background and vast experience in his expertise. The Board is of
the opinion that Dr. Ng remains independent notwithstanding the length of his
service and will continue to bring valuable business experience, knowledge
and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective functioning.

Together with the annual confirmation of his independence received by the
Company pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, the Board considers
that Dr. Ng length of tenure does not impact his independence, and Dr.
Ng remains independent to the Group, and free of any relationship which
could materially interfere with the exercise of his independent judgment, the
re-election of Dr. Ng as independent non-executive Director is at the best
interests of the Company and Shareholders as a whole.

The Company has also received the annual confirmation of independence from
Mr. See Tak Wah and Mr. Wang Jinlin pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The Company considers that all of the independent non-executive
Directors are independent.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, sales to the five largest customers
of the Group accounted for 40.2% of the Group’s total revenue for the year. In
particular, sales to the largest customer of the Group accounted for 13.3% of
the Group’s total revenue for the year.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, 76.9% of the Group’s purchases
were attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers. In particular, purchases
from the largest supplier of the Group accounted for 31.4% of the Group’s
total purchase for the year.

As far as the Directors are aware, neither the Directors nor any of their
associates nor any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the
Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any
beneficial interests in any of the Group’s five largest customers or five largest
suppliers.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31
December 2024.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the
Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit, qualifications and
competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are decided by the Remuneration Committee
having regard to the Company’s operating results, individual performance and
comparable market statistics.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s bye-laws, or
the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on
a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions undertaken by the Group during the
year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in Note 34 to the consolidated
financial statements. These related party transactions (i) did not constitute
connected transactions/continuing connected transactions or, (i) constituted
connected transactions/continuing connected transactions but were exempted
from all disclosure and independent shareholders’ approval requirements
under the Listing Rules.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s financial conditions, results of operations and business would
be affected by numerous risks and uncertainties including market risk, foreign
currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk. The Group’s overall
risk management programme is shown in Note 6 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS
AND SUPPLIERS

Employees

The Group considers employees as the key to success and continues to
implement people-oriented policy in human resources management, including
the offer of appropriate training programs, performance linked discretionary
bonus, and implement a sound and complete performance appraisal system
to promote career advancement and opportunity of the staff.

Customers and Suppliers

The Group maintained sound relationships with its customers and suppliers,
and also committed to provide excellent products with outstanding services to
our customers in order to build up and maintain sustainable relationships.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, as far as the Company is aware,
there was no material breach of or non-compliance with applicable laws and
regulations by the Group that has a significant impact on the business and
operations of the Group.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY

In accordance with bye-law 164 of the Bye-laws, the Directors and other
officers of the Company shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of
the assets and profits of the Company from and against all actions, costs,
charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any of them, their or
any of their heirs, executors or administrators, shall or may incur or sustain
by or by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the
execution of their duty, or supposed duty, in their respective offices or trusts,
provided that any such persons has not committed any fraud or dishonesty.

A permitted indemnity provision for the benefit of the Directors was in force
as of the date of this report and during the financial year ended 31 December
2024. The Company has maintained directors and officers liability insurance
for the directors of the Company.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained a sufficient
public float as at the latest practicable date prior to the issue of this report.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Reference is made to:

1. the announcements of the Company dated 20 September 2024,
26 September 2024, and 7 October 2024 (the “Subscription
Announcements”) in relation to the subscription of new shares by
ALBHK (together with its subsidiaries, the “ALB Group”) under general
mandate, which includes a three-year lock-up undertaking made by
ALBHK (the “Lock-Up Undertaking”, and the transaction collectively
referred to as the “Share Subscription”);

2. the announcement of the Company dated 1 November 2024 (the “dV
Announcement”) in relation to the formation by the Company and
ALBHK of joint venture companies (the “JV Companies”, and the joint
venture company in the PRC referred to as the “PRC JV Company”),
which constituted a major transaction of the Company (the “dV
Transaction”); and

3. the announcement of the Company dated 1 March 2025 (the
“Termination Announcement”) in relation to, among other things,
the execution by the Company and ALBHK of a deed of termination
(the “Deed of Termination”) in order to terminate the JV Transaction
and to release ALBHK from the Lock-Up Undertaking (collectively, the
“Termination”).
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Pursuant to the JV Announcement, the Company disclosed, among
other things, that:

(@)

on 1 November 2024, the Company entered into a joint venture
agreement (the “JV Agreement”) with ALBHK, pursuant to which
the parties agreed to establish the JV Companies;

the aggregate amount of capital contribution that the Company
and ALBHK had respectively agreed to make to the JV
Companies; and

the objectives for entering into the JV Transaction was to utilise
ALBHK’s unique technology, resources and intellectual property
advantages in the new energy field in the PRC, which was
expected to present the Group with long-term growth prospects,
and to assist the Group in expanding its market presence in the
new energy industry in the PRC.

= =+
EEEREE
Summary of Share Subscription and JV Transaction BRORBREERZIUE
1. The Share Subscription 1. R7R6E
Pursuant to the Subscription Announcements, the Company disclosed, WIEREAYE  ARFEEB(HPERE)
among other things, that: TEIE
(@ on 7 October 2024 (the “Subscription Completion Date”), the @ RZZE-MF+AER(RBZERA
Company issued 120,000,000 Shares, representing 5.46% of the 1) - KATRIAFTIR0A0E T (R EE
issued share capital of the Company (as enlarged by the Share &) #47120,000,000 8% f% 153 15 A<
Subscription) at the price of HK$0.10 per Share (the “Subscription NRAIBBETRA (RO BEEKRE)
Price”); #5.46% ;
(b)  the Subscription Price represented: b) REBEREK:
)  a discount of approximately 3.85% to the closing price () ®WZT-pUFAA-+HENET
of HK$0.104 as quoted on the Stock Exchange on 20 SRR B ) B T ATER
September 2024, being the date on which the subscription WTH{E0.1048 JTHT:E473.85%
agreement was entered into;
(i)  no discount/premium to the average closing price of (i) WEEREWZB R RE:RE
HK$0.10 as quoted on the Stock Exchange for the five B2 5 B E AT AT IR
consecutive trading days of Shares immediately preceding BT E0AI0E T EITE,
the date of the subscription agreement; e
(©) asaresult of the Share Subscription, the shareholding of the public (0 FHERMRAE ARBERNEKRE
shareholders decreased by 1.6% from 29.46% (immediately before 20.46% (Z#Z % 7 REE A AT ) B
completion of the Share Subscription) to 27.58% (immediately 1.6%%£27.58% (B # Z [ 7 R 7T
after completion of the Share Subscription); and %) &
(d)  ALBHK made the Lock-Up Undertaking. 0 MREABEHEEEG -
2. The JV Transaction 2. BEXS
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3.

The Termination

Pursuant to the Termination Announcement, the Company disclosed,
among other things, that due to differences arisen between the parties
regarding financing risk control with respect to the JV Companies,
on 1 March 2025, the Company and ALBHK entered into a deed of
termination to terminate the JV Agreement, and the Company had
agreed to release ALBHK from the Lock-Up Undertaking.

Events leading to and after the execution of the JV Agreement

1.

Due diligence and planning for JV Transaction

Before the JV Transaction took place, the Company and ALBHK had
various discussions with ALBHK about the joint venture cooperation
which eventually led to the JV Transaction. The Company’s objective
was to leverage on ALB Group’s technology, resources, intellectual
advantages, and business networks to expand its business portfolio into
the new energy industry, and in particular, the production and sale of
battery packs for heavy duty vehicles (such as excavators, bulldozers,
and heavy cargo and mining trucks) to vehicle manufacturers.

In October 2024, the Company conducted due diligence on the
business and operations of ALB Group, including (a) its product types;
(b) its production capabilities, capacity and scale, including inspection
of manufacturing process and production lines; (c) product quality
assurance systems and work safety protocols; and (d) human resources
and management experience and qualifications.

In November 2024, the Company attended field inspections in Xinjiang
where mining activities are active, in order to understand the demand
for heavy cargo and mining trucks, as well as the logistics and
transportation arrangements associated with such mining activities.

Planning for JV Transaction

In December 2024, representatives of the Company and ALB Group
engaged in discussions about the implementation of the strategies about
the JV Companies, including, among other things, discussions on supply
chain procurement, allocation of responsibilities, and other operational
details.
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Events leading to and reasons for the Termination

BYZRLENEHNER

Proposed Supply Chain Arrangement

As part of the of the preparations for the commencement of
the business and operations of the JV Companies, ALBHK was
assigned the responsibility for assisting the JV Companies to obtain
procurement financing. The salient features of the procurement and
financing arrangements proposed by the procurement financier (the
“Procurement Financier”, and such arrangements are referred to as
the “Proposed Supply Chain Arrangement”) are set out below:

(@ the Procurement Financier will provide a temporary interest-
bearing credit line (“Credit Line”) to the PRC JV Company for its
supply chain procurement;

(b)  the Procurement Financier will procure materials from suppliers in
accordance with the requirements and specifications determined
by the PRC JV Company;

(c) the Procurement Financier will pay the purchase price to the
suppliers in accordance with the terms of the procurement
agreement with the supplier, and such funds will be deducted from
the Credit Line; and

(d) the PRC JV Company must repay the Procurement Financier
within an agreed period of time, even though the relevant supplier
might have defaulted in the delivery of relevant materials.

The Company also became aware that certain key suppliers require full
or partial payment of the purchase price as prepayment before delivery
of materials.

No definitive agreements have been made with respect to the Proposed
Supply Chain Arrangement.

Company’s view on the Proposed Supply Chain Arrangement

In January 2025, discussions between the Company and ALBHK took
place where the Company expressed concerns about the financial
risk and credit risk control regarding the Proposed Supply Chain
Arrangement because the PRC JV Company will fully bear the suppliers’
default risk. In addition, it advocated for the position that the supplier
will only be paid upon delivery of materials to the PRC JV Company.
However, the Company and ALBHK was unable to reach a consensus
on the commercial terms of the Proposed Supply Management
Arrangement. As a result, the negotiations on the Proposed Supply
Arrangement came to a stalemate.
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Changes in National Policies in relation to the new energy industry

In February 2025, there were changes in national policies in relation to
new energy industry in the PRC, which, the Board believes, will bring
about uncertainties with respect to the competitiveness and profitability
of the operations of the JV Companies.

During October 2024 when the JV parties commenced discussions on
the joint venture cooperation, there were a number of national policies
in the PRC which supported the new energy industry, such as (i) fixed
pricing and benchmark pricing set by the PRC government for electricity
generated from new energy projects (the “Fixed Pricing Mechanism”);
and (i) mandatory storage facilities for electricity as a prerequisite for
access to energy grids where electricity was generated from new energy
projects, which alleviates the impact of the inherent volatile or unstable
nature of new energy, and reduce fluctuations for electricity generators
(“Mandatory Electricity Storage”).

However, in February 2025, the National Development and Reform
Commission and the National Energy Administration jointly issued a
“Notice on Deepening the Market-oriented Reform of New Energy On-
Grid Electricity Prices and Promoting the High-Quality Development of
New Energy” (5513655 X (BN AL 3T8EIR B B Tin b (R EH
EEREEE%EMNEL)) (‘“New Policy”), which, among other things,
indicated that (i) the price of electricity generated from new energy
projects will be determined through market transactions, as the Fixed
Pricing Mechanism does not reflect the actual supply and demand
dynamics, and the Fixed Pricing Mechanism will be abolished; and (i)
Mandatory Electricity Storage is no longer a prerequisite for access to
energy grids where electricity was generated from new energy projects.

In relation to the above changes, (i) without the Fixed Pricing Mechanism,
the electricity price may fluctuate according to supply and demand,
which may drive up the electricity price and increase the utilisation costs
of new energy heavy duty vehicles by end consumers, as opposed to
the predictability of a fixed/benchmark price. Given the uncertainty of
the impact of these new policies and its effects on the electricity price,
market players including new energy heavy duty vehicle manufacturers,
which are the key target customers of the JV Companies, are taking
a relatively cautious approach, and such perceptions in downstream
industries may in turn affect the outlook on the upstream industries,
including lithium battery packs which are a key component for such new
energy heavy duty vehicles; and (i) the removal of the Mandatory Energy
Storage requirement may cause manufacturers who were focused
on energy storage facilities to enter the power battery market (which
includes the production of lithium battery packs), and therefore increase
in the number of market players within the lithium batteries industry as
a whole. Such increased competition may lead to the JV Companies
facing relatively stronger competition and challenges in terms of product
pricing and profitability, as well as affect its market share.
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Given that the main business of the JV Companies is the development, ENAEENAMNETEEKAET AN
assembly and sale of lithium battery packs, and the key target AR NHEE  BAZERRNEEREZ
customers of the JV Companies are new energy heavy duty vehicles, BEAHEBRENRH  EFCRAER
the Board believes this will bring about uncertainties with respect to the HELNTREHNHES N KRB R EER
competitiveness and profitability of the operations of the JV Companies. THETE M -
4. Termination of the JV Agreement and release of Lock-Up Undertaking 4. HRIFAEE R EZEAE

Given that the Company and ALBHK were unable to reach a consensus ERAABEMABE BRI EZHER
on the commercial terms of the Proposed Supply Chain Arrangement ?(HF MR EGERERLBBEARBAER
and negotiations have come to a stalemate, which fundamentally MR FEE T HEREUARE
affects the procurement process and the business and operations of MATIHERIEL B EFER
the JV Companies, coupled with the uncertainty as to the impact of the TEBRIREER T 8BS LTSRN
unforeseen changes in national policies in relation to new energy industry EBEETETE  ARARE BRIEARQ
in the PRC, the Company was of the view that it was impracticable RIS AEREINEA - BRIEEHTTEE
to proceed with the JV Agreement unless the Company is willing to WEL AT RIEA %Tﬁﬁ%ﬁé\$’& A
undertake additional risks, and it was in the interests of the Company N E R RS RIS o @%Q EIGES
and its shareholders as a whole to terminate the JV Agreement. As the Eﬂﬁg RN NN WJ%,Z% LA EHERET
JV Companies have yet to commence operation, the Company is of the W NEBMPEEEEKERNTHZE -

view that there will be no material adverse impact on the financial results
of the Group due to the termination of the JV Agreement.

ALBHK gave the Lock-Up Undertaking at the time and in the context MAEASREEERASENE S TE

where long-term cooperation was expected. However, since the HZEEGE - R BRAEZLAEREE

joint venture cooperation did not materialise, the Company agreed IR AABREMAKESHGEEALD

to ALBHK’s request for releasing the Lock-Up Undertaking having FHR O WEETUTHEE

considered:

(@) aspeedy termination of the JV Agreement outweighs any potential () ZEIEEAKRIEEEHENE
benefit of the Lock-Up Undertaking in the long run, taking into = ﬁEELﬁ!E%Lﬁ? LL,Z%JJ:/—\%‘
account the factors for terminating the JV Agreement referred to in R BEEES KN EELEHGE

the preceding paragraph;
(b)  the Subscription Price represented only a small discount to the (b) u,uﬁf‘ittﬂxﬁ?ﬁﬁ%ﬁ% =LY
closing price of the Shares on the date of the agreement of the TEEREITE

Share Subscription; and

(c)  the dilutive effect of the Share Subscription was minimal. ) MBORENEHEZEMTEMY -
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Unwinding the JV Transaction

Immediately prior to the date of termination of the JV Agreement, the Group
had owned 51% in joint venture company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands (the “BVI JV Company”), being the holding company of the other JV
Companies, and the Group had contributed HK$1,200,000 in cash to the JV
Companies.

Pursuant to the Deed of Termination, the Group agreed to transfer all its
shareholding in BVI JV Company to a party designated by ALBHK in writing,
at a consideration of HK$1,200,000.00, being the capital contributed by the
Group in the JV Companies (the “Transfer”). As at the date of this Annual
Report, the Transfer has occurred and the Company has not yet received the
consideration.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
(“ESG”) SUMMARY

The Group is committed to conducting our business in an environmentally
sound manner and has adopted the Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide as required by the Listing Rules. The Board will continue
to monitor such policies to ensure the Company remains compliant with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the Company
in relation to the environment, employment, labor and operation. In addition to
carrying out the corporate-wide programs the Company has initiated, all of our
employees are required to be familiar with environmental laws and regulations
relevant to their employment responsibilities and to comply with them. Details
of the above information are set out in our ESG report.

DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2024 are
set out in Note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.
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AUDITOR ¥ BEm

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 AKEFHZE-—Z-—NMF+-_A=+—HIFE>
December 2024 was audited by ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited. ZHONGHUI #RE B EERECEPEZESTMESMERA
ANDA CPA Limited will retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting and — &]&1% - REZESTEIEHAERE QBN E
a resolution for their re-appointment as the auditor of the Company will be  EIRFEIEF A2 FEEF  RNERREEE S -

proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting. BIREEBMENZTEEARR A ZER A RE
=,

By order of the Board REEGW

Tesson Holdings Limited REEZERERAT

Wei Mingren FiE

Chairman B2EL

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025 B —E-AF=A=-+)N\H
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on the principles
and code provisions (the “Code Provisions”) as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing
Rules.

The Company and the Directors strive to follow the internal control manuals
and put in place sufficient resources to comply with the CG Code. During the
year ended 31 December 2024, save for the deviations disclosed below, the
Company had complied with all the applicable provisions set out in the CG
Code:

Pursuant to the Code Provision C.1.6 of the CG Code, independent non-
executive Directors and non-executive Directors should attend general
meetings of the Company. However, one executive Director was absent from
the special general meetings of the Company held on 13 December 2024
and 30 December 2024 respectively due to other business commitments.
To ensure compliance with the CG Code in the future, the Company has
arranged and will continue to arrange to furnish all Directors with appropriate
information on all general meetings of the Company and take all reasonable
measures to schedule meetings in such a way that all Directors can attend the
general meetings.

Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates the roles of chairman and
chief executive should be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual. Mr. Tin Kong had served as the chairman and the chief executive
officer of the Company (the “CEQ”) from 1 August 2019 to 20 October 2024
which deviated from Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code. Unitl 20 October
2024, Mr. Wei Mingren serves as the Chairman of the Board while Mr. Tin
Kong serves as the deputy CEO and is responsible for the overall management
of the Group. The separation of these roles did not affect management
effectiveness of the Group while at the same time enabled the Company to
comply with Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code.

The Board will continue to review and improve the corporate governance
practices and standards of the Company to ensure the business activities and
decision making processes of the Company are regulated in a proper and
prudent manner.
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for securities transactions by the
Directors.

Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, the Company reported that the
Directors confirmed that they had complied with the required standards set
out in the Model Code during the year ended 31 December 2024. The Model
Code also applies to other specified senior management of the Group.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises:
Executive Directors: Mr. Wei Mingren (Chairman)
Mr. Wei Qingwen

Mr. Chan Wei

Ms. Yu Xiaolei

Independent Non-executive Directors: Dr. Ng Ka Wing
Mr. See Tak Wah
Mr. Wang Jinlin

The Board comprises of four executive Directors and three independent
non-executive Directors. One of the independent non-executive Directors
possesses appropriate professional accounting qualifications and financial
management expertise. Biographical details of the Directors and the
relationships among the members of the Board are set out in the section
headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” in this
Annual Report.

Save as disclosed under “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management”, the Board members have no financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationships with each other. The formation of the Board has
met Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules for the Board to have at least one-third in
number of its members comprising independent non-executive Directors.

On 20 October 2024, Mr. Wei Qingwen, Mr. Wei Mingren and Mr. Yan Haiting
(resigned on 1 March 2025) were appointed as the executive Director of the
Company, whereas Mr. Xu Qian (resigned on 1 March 2025) was appointed
as the executive Director of the Company on 10 January 2025. They had
obtained legal advice referred to under Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules on their
corresponding appointment date, and each confirmed that they understood
their obligations as a director of a listed issuer.

The main focus of the Board is on the formulation of overall strategies and
policies of the Group. The Board also monitors the financial performance
and the internal controls of the Group’s business operations. Execution of
operational matters and the powers thereof are delegated to the management
by way of clear direction and remit from the Board.
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The independent non-executive Directors are from professional background
with a broad range of expertise and experience in the fields of accounting,
finance, legal and business. Their skills and expertise ensure strong
independent views and judgment in the Board. They also serve important
function of ensuring and monitoring the basis for an effective corporate
governance framework. The Board considers that each independent non-
executive Director is independent in character and judgment and that they all
meet the independence criteria as set out under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

All Directors are regularly updated on governance and regulatory matters.
There is an established procedure for Directors to obtain independent
professional advice at the expense of the Company in the furtherance of their
duties.

Directors’ Training and Professional Development Programme

The Directors have undergone satisfactory training throughout the year and
provided the training record to the Company. During the year ended 31
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December 2024, the training records of the Directors are set out below:

BIEFE  EFZEJEEHIIMT

Corporate Governance/update
on laws, rules and regulations

REER/EH - RAIRRGZEH

Attend Seminars, Briefings

Read and
Materials Conferences
HEHHE

Directors EE BEM R HHEERER

Executive Directors HITEE

Mr. Wei Mingren (Chairman) RECRE(EE) v 4
(appointed on 20 October 2024) (RZZZNETAZTREZRE)

Mr. Wei Qingwen (appointed on 20 October 2024) BENEAERZZ-METAZTHEZMA) v v

Mr. Chan Wei BM%E 4 v

Ms. Yu Xiaolei A ﬁi 4 4

Mr. Tin Kong (resigned on 20 October 2024) Al E(RZSZNE+A T HEH) 4 v

Ms. Cheng Hung Mui (resigned on 20 October 2024) ~ Bj4TH§ 4+ (R - F-MF+ A =+ HEHE) v X

Ms. Liu Liu (resigned on 20 October 2024) M t+(R-E-_NFE+ A -+ HET) v X

Mr. Yan Haiting (appointed on 20 October 2024 and F_:EJ‘}E?E’_{(EA: TMETAZTHEZA 4 4
resigned on 1 March 2025) ZZ-RE=A-BET)

Mr. Xu Qian (appointed on 10 January 2025 and %1% ﬁE(E’L T-RE-ATRHEZA N/ATNEA N/ATNEA
resigned on 1 March 2025) ZEZRF-A—HET)

Independent Non-executive Directors BUHHTEE

Dr. Ng Ka Wing REKET v v

Mr. See Tak Wah MEELE 4 v

Mr. Wang Jinlin FemEE 4 v
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Directors’ Attendance at the Board Meetings and General

Meetings

The individual attendance record of each Director at the Board meetings
(not including other ad hoc meetings of the Board held from time to time),
certain committee meetings and general meetings during the year ended 31
December 2024 is set out below:

ESHFESETRRBRRAERER

BEENEBE_Z_NF+-_A=T—HL=FE
HFREFgeR(TEBEEMITREITHNEN
Exeew) HTZEE2aMBERRENE
BIECEETIENT

Attendance/Number of Meetings

/By
Internal
Audit Nomination ~Remuneration Control
Committee Committee Committee Committee Board General
Meetings Meetings Meetings Meeting Meetings Meetings
ENZBE  R¥ZBE  §MzEe  wiEEzE
Directors 2 E ] L EE ] gE88  Ezeed TN
Executive Directors HIEE
Mr. Wei Mingren (Chairman) BECEE(ZE) NATER NATER NATER NATER 202 22
(appointed on 20 October 2024) (RZZ-mETA-TREZA)
Mr. Wei Qingwen BEEA N/ANER N/ANER N/ANER NANEH 072 072
(appointed on 20 October 2024) (W=Z-RFTA-TRHEEH)
Mr. Chan Wei RELE NAT@ER NATER NATER NATER 10110 33
Ms. Yu Xiaolei aEENL NATER NATER NATER N/ATER 10110 213
Mr. Tin Kong i N/ATNER 2/2 2/2 il 8/8 11
(resigned on 20 October 2024) (R=2ZME+A=THET)
Ms. Cheng Hung Mu Bt NAMER NATNER NATNER NATMER 0/6 0A
(resigned on 20 October 2024) (R-B-mE+B-TREHT)
Ms. Liu Liu et NATER N/ATER NATER NANEH 0/6 0/1
(resigned on 20 October 2024) (R-B-ME+E-+BET)
Mr. Yan Haiting BESik NATEE NATEE NATEE NATEE 212 0/2
(appointed on 20 October 2024 and (R=Z-mE+A-TREZE
resigned on 1 March 2025) R -E-RFE=f—HEE)
Mr. Xu Qian Gl NATER NATER NATER NATER NATER NATER
(appointed on 1 January 2025 and (MZE-nF-A+HEZR
resigned on 1 March 2025) e s R =F- 233
Independent Non-executive Directors B 517722
Dr. Ng Ka Wing RREET 112 12 1/2 0/1 910 3/3
Mr. See Tak Wah HEELE 212 2/2 2/2 N 910 3/3
Mr. Wang Jinlin Ve 2/2 22 22 1N 910 113
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DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ INSURANCE

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect of potential
legal actions against its Directors and officers.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Pursuant to Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman and
CEO should be separate and should not be performed by the same individual.

The roles of Chairman are to provide leadership to the Board and responsible
for the effective functioning and ensuring that directors receive adequate,
reliable and complete information in timely manner. The Chairman assumes
the primary responsibility for ensuring that good corporate governance
practices and procedures are established.

The CEOQ is responsible for administering and managing the Group’s business
and internal controls, including the implementation of major strategies and
initiatives decreed and delegated by the Board.

Until 20 October 2024, Mr. Tin Kong served as the chairman and the CEO
of the Company. Since 20 October 2024, Mr. Wei Mingren serves as the
Chairman of the Board while Mr. Tin Kong serves as the deputy CEO and is
responsible for the overall management of the Group. The separation of these
roles did not affect management effectiveness of the Group while at the same
time enabled the Company to comply with Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG
Code.

BOARD COMMITTEES

As at the date of this Annual Report, the Board has established four
committees, namely, the audit committee (the “Audit Committee”), the
nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”), the remuneration
committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) and the internal control
committee (the “Internal Control Committee”), for overseeing particular
aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board committees of the Company are
established with defined written terms of reference. The terms of reference of
the Board committees are posted on the Company’s website and the Stock
Exchange’s website.

Each Board committee consists of a majority of independent non-executive
Directors (“INED”). The list of the chairman and members of each Board
committee as at the date of this Annual Report is set out below:
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Audit Committee

Mr. See Tak Wah (Chairman) (INED)
Dr. Ng Ka Wing (INED)
Mr. Wang Jinlin (INED)

Internal Control Committee

Mr. Wei Mingren (Chairman) (executive Director)
Dr. Ng Ka Wing (INED)

Mr. See Tak Wah (INED)

Mr. Wang Jinlin (INED)

Nomination Committee

Mr. Wei Mingren (Chairman) (executive Director)
Dr. Ng Ka Wing (INED)

Mr. See Tak Wah (INED)

Mr. Wang Jinlin (INED)

Remuneration Committee

Dr. Ng Ka Wing (Chairman) (INED)
Mr. Wei Mingren (executive Director)
Mr. See Tak Wah (INED)

Mr. Wang Jinlin (INED)

Pursuant to Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules, every listed issuer is required
to have at least three INEDs, at least one of whom must have appropriate
professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial management
expertise. Besides, according to Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules, every listed
issuer must establish an audit committee comprising non-executive directors
only. The audit committee must comprise a minimum of three members, at
least one of whom is an independent non-executive director with appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise as required under Rule 3.10(2). Throughout the year, the Board at all

times fully complied with Rules 3.21 and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The majority of the audit committee members must be independent non-
executive directors of the listed issuer. The audit committee must be chaired
by an independent non-executive director. Written terms of reference, which
describe the authority and duties of the Audit Committee, have been adopted
and posted on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange, and
are regularly reviewed and updated by the Board.

As at the reporting date, the Audit Committee comprised three members, all
the independent non-executive Directors namely, Mr. See Tak Wah, Dr. Ng Ka
Wing and Mr. Wang Jinlin as members. The chairman of Audit Committee is
Mr. See Tak Wah who possesses the appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise. None of the members
of the Audit Committee is a former partner of the Company’s existing external
auditor. The Audit Committee has separate and independent access to the
advice and services of the senior management of the Company.

The main duties of the Audit Committee include the following:

(@ To review the consolidated financial statements and reports and
consider any significant or unusual items raised by the Company’s
staff responsible for the accounting and financial reporting function,
compliance officer or external auditors before submission to the Board.

(b)  To review the relationship with the external auditors with reference to the
work performed by them, their fees and terms of engagement, and make
recommendation to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and
removal of external auditors.

(c) To review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s financial
reporting system, internal control system and risk management system
and associated procedures.

During the year, the Audit Committee has, inter alia, reviewed the accounting
standards and practices adopted by the Group and discussed with the
management about the internal control and financial reporting matters,
including reviewing the annual financial information for the year ended 31
December 2023 and the interim financial information for the six months ended
30 June 2024.

The Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2024 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee, who is of
opinion that such statements comply with applicable accounting standards
and legal requirements, and that adequate disclosures have been made.
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INTERNAL CONTROL COMMITTEE

The Internal Control Committee comprises four members, namely, Mr. Wei
Mingren who is the Chairman and executive Director, and Dr. Ng Ka Wing,
Mr. See Tak Wah and Mr. Wang Jinlin who are independent non-executive
Directors. The Internal Control Committee is chaired by Mr. Wei Mingren. The
Internal Control Committee was established to enhance risk management and
internal control systems in a timely manner. The Internal Control Committee
is responsible for performing independent review of the adequacy and
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems. The Internal
Control Committee examines key issues in relation to the accounting practices
and all material controls; evaluate and determine the nature and extent of the
risks it is willing to take in achieving the Company’s strategic objectives; and
provides the effectiveness of its implementation and recommendations for
improvement to the Audit Committee and the Board.

During the year, the Company organises personnel and seeks assistance from
external professional advisory institutions to review the risk management and
internal control systems which are subject to the review by the Company’s
management team and the Internal Control Committee, also the approval by
the Audit Committee and the Board.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

According to Rule 3.27A of the Listing Rules, issuers should establish a
nomination committee which is chaired by the chairman of the board or an
independent non-executive director and comprises a majority of independent
non-executive directors.

The Company has set up a Nomination Committee with its written terms of
reference in compliance with the CG Code to ensure fair and transparent
procedures for appointment, re-election and removal of Directors to the
Board. The Nomination Committee currently comprises three independent
non-executive Directors and one executive Director, and was chaired by an
executive Director who is the Chairman of the Board.

The principal responsibilities of the Nomination Committee include reviewing
the structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge and
experience) of the Board on a regular basis and make recommendations to
the Board regarding any proposed changes; identifying individuals suitably
qualified to become Board members and select or make recommendations
to the Board on the selection of, individuals nominated for directorships;
assessing the independence of independent non-executive Directors; making
recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to the appointment
or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors.
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During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Nomination Committee has
reviewed the existing structure, size, diversity and composition of the Board
to ensure it has a balance of expertise, skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements the Group’s business; reviewed
and assessed the independence of independent non-executive Directors; and
assessed the board diversity policy of the Company (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) as well as discussing matters regarding the appointment, retirement
and re-election of Directors.

The Nomination Committee formulated Board Diversity Policy. The Company
recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board to enhance
the quality of its performance. In designing the Board’s composition, the
Nomination Committee will consider a number of aspects, including but
not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. All Board
appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered
against objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the
Board. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that the
selected candidates will bring to the Board.

The Nomination Committee will continue to review the Board Diversity Policy, as
appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness and discuss any revisions that may be
required, and recommend any such revisions to the Board for consideration
and approval.

The Nomination Committee also monitors the implementation of the
Board Diversity Policy and reports to the Board on the achievement of the
measurable objectives for achieving diversity under the Board Diversity Policy.

BOARD DIVERSITY

The Group has adopted the Board Diversity Policy which is summarised as
follows:

(@)  Election of members of the Board shall be based on a series of
diversified bases, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service; and

(b)  The Nomination Committee will monitor the implementation of the
diversity policy in order to ensure that the policy produces desirable
results.
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From January to mid-October 2024, the composition of the Board had
met the gender diversity requirement at approximately 38%, representing
3 females out of 8 Directors. However, with the resignation of two female
Directors, there is only one female member left on the Board as of the date
of this report. Taking into account our existing business mode and specific
needs as well as the different backgrounds of our Directors, we believe that
the composition of the Board is in compliance with our Board Diversity Policy
and in compliance with Rule 13.92 of the Listing Rules. The Board aims to
maintain current level of female representation and eventually raise to one-third
female representation structure. The Board will continue to seek opportunities
to increase female representation if suitable candidates are identified in the
future. Gender diversity at workforce levels (including or senior management) is
disclosed in the ESG Report of the Company.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Remuneration Policy for Directors and Senior Management

The remuneration payable to the employees includes salaries and allowances.
The Group’s remuneration policies are formulated based on the performance
of individual employees and are reviewed regularly. Subject to the Group’s
profitability, the Group may also provide a discretionary bonus to employees
as an incentive for their contribution to the Group. The primary goal of
the remuneration policy with regard to the remuneration packages of the
executive Directors is to enable the Group to retain and motivate the executive
Directors by linking their compensation with performance as measured against
corporate objectives achieved. Each of the executive Directors is entitled to
the remuneration packages including basic salaries and discretionary bonuses.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make recommmendations
to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure for all Directors’ and
senior management remuneration, make recommendations to the Board on
the remuneration of non-executive Directors and determine, with delegated
responsibility, the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and
senior management.

The Company believes that by offering the eligible persons a shareholding
stake in the Company, the interests of the eligible persons and the Company
will align and thereby provide the eligible persons with additional incentives to
improve the Company’s performance.

According to the Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules, an issuer must establish a
remuneration committee chaired by an independent non-executive director
and comprising a majority of independent non-executive directors, and
according to the Rule 3.26 of the Listing Rules, the board of directors
must approve and provide written terms of reference for the remuneration
committee which clearly establish its authority and duties.
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The Company has set up a Remuneration Committee with written terms of
reference in compliance with the CG Code to ensure that there are formal and
transparent procedures for setting policies on the remuneration of Directors
and senior management. The Remuneration Committee currently comprises
three independent non-executive Directors and one executive Director, and
was chaired by an independent non-executive Director.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Remuneration Committee has
reviewed and discussed the remuneration and structure of the Directors and
senior management of the Company.

Pursuant to Code Provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the remuneration of the
members of the senior management by band for the year ended 31 December
2024 is set out in Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chan Wei, the company secretary of the Company, is also an executive
director of the Company. He ensures information flow within the Board and
that the Board policy and procedures are followed. The company secretary is
responsible for advising the Board on the corporate governance matters and
professional development of the Directors.

According to the requirements of Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, the company
secretary has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training
during the financial year ended 31 December 2024.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board has overall responsibility for the systems of internal control and
risk management of the Company and for reviewing their effectiveness on a
regular basis, covering financial, operational, compliance controls and risk
management functions.

The Board is committed to design and implement effective and sound
risk management and internal control systems to safeguard the interests
of Shareholders and the Group’s assets. The systems are implemented
to manage and minimize, rather than eliminate, the risk of failure in
operation systems, and to provide reasonable assurance against material
misstatement or loss. The Board has delegated to executive management the
implementation of the systems of risk management and internal controls and
reviewing of all relevant financial, operational, compliance controls and risk
management function within an established framework. Our risk management
and internal control systems are reviewed and renewed at least on an annual
basis.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024, APAC Compliance Consultancy and
Internal Control Services Limited, an external professional advisory institution,
has been appointed to undertake the internal audit function and assist the
Internal Control Committee to review the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group. For risk assessment, the management and functional
responsible persons are required to evaluate the likelihood and impact of
each identified risk item in a risk register. Once significant risks are identified,
mitigating measures are required to put in place immediately in order to
manage such risks. For internal control review, once areas of improvement
have been identified, appropriate measures and follow-up actions are required
to be put in place in order to enhance the internal control system. The Internal
Control Committee reviews the findings and opinion of the management on
the effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and internal control
systems, and reports to the Audit Committee and the Board on such reviews.
In respect of the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board considered the
risk management and internal control systems effective and adequate. No
significant areas of concern which might affect Shareholders were identified.

The Company has put in place the policies and procedures for the handling
and dissemination of inside information. The Company regularly reminds the
Directors and employees for the due compliance with all policies regarding
the inside information and also keeps them for the latest regulatory updates.
Before the information is fully disclosed to the public, the Group ensures the
information is kept strictly confidential. If the Group believes that the necessary
degree of confidentiality cannot be maintained or that confidentiality may have
been breached, the Group would immediately disclose the information to the
public.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and understandable
assessment of annual and interim reports, price sensitive announcements
and other disclosures required under the Listing Rules and other regulatory
requirements.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the consolidated
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2024.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The auditor’s responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements of the
Group is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report of this Annual Report.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the remuneration of the Group’s
auditor for statutory audit services was approximately HK$900,000. There are
also non-audit services for the Rights Issue and major transaction which the
remuneration of the Group’s auditor were approximately HK$180,000 and
HK$60,000 respectively.

SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS

Procedures for Shareholders to convene a Special General
Meeting (“SGM”)

Pursuant to the Bye-laws and the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda
(“Companies Act”), registered Shareholders holding not less than one-tenth
(10%) of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company (“SGM Requisitionists”) can deposit a
written request to convene a SGM at the registered office of the Company
(“Registered Office”), which is presently situated at Clarendon House, 2
Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda. The SGM Requisitionists must
state in their request(s) the purposes of the SGM and such request(s) must be
signed by all the SGM Requisitionists and may consist of several documents in
like form, each signed by one or more of the SGM Requisitionists.

The share registrars will verify the SGM Requisitionists’ particulars in the SGM
Requisitionists’ request. Promptly after confirmation from the share registrars
that the SGM Requisitionists’ request is in order, the Company Secretary will
arrange with the Board to convene a SGM by serving sufficient notice to all
the registered Shareholders in accordance with all the relevant statutory and
regulatory requirements. On the contrary, if the SGM Requisitionists’ request
is verified not in order, the SGM Requisitionists will be advised of the outcome
and accordingly, a SGM will not be convened as requested.

The SGM Requisitionists, or any of them representing more than one half of
the total voting rights of all of them, may themselves convene a SGM if within
twenty-one (21) days of the deposit of the SGM Requisitionists’ request, the
Board does not proceed duly to convene a SGM provided that any SGM so
convened is held within three (3) months from the date of the original SGM
Requisitionists’ request. A SGM so convened by the SGM Requisitionists
shall be convened in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which
meetings are to be convened by the Company.
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Procedures for Shareholders to put forward proposals at a
general meeting

Pursuant to the Companies Act, either any number of the registered
Shareholders holding not less than one-twentieth (5%) of the paid-up capital of
the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company
(“Requisitionists”), or not less than 100 of such registered Shareholders, can
request the Company in writing to (a) give to Shareholders entitled to receive
notice of the next general meeting notice of any resolution which may properly
be moved and is intended to be moved at that meeting; and (b) circulate to
Shareholders entitled to have notice of any general meeting any statement
of not more than 1,000 words with respect to the matter referred to in any
proposed resolution or the business to be dealt with at that meeting. The
requisition signed by all the Requisitionists may consist of several documents
in like form, each signed by one or more of the Requisitionists; and it must be
deposited at the Registered Office with a sum reasonably sufficient to meet
the Company’s relevant expenses, not less than six (6) weeks before the
meeting in case of a requisition requiring notice of a resolution or not less than
one (1) week before the meeting in the case of any other requisition. Provided
that if an annual general meeting is called for a date six (6) weeks or less after
the requisition has been deposited, the requisition though not deposited within
the time required shall be deemed to have been properly deposited for the
purposes thereof.

Procedures for directing Shareholders’ enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns to the Board
in writing through the Company Secretary whose contact details are as
follows:

The Company Secretary

Mr. Chan Wei

Room 401A, Empire Centre,

68 Mody Road, Tsim Sha Tsui,
Kowloon, Hong Kong

Fax: (852) 3520 3181

Email: info@tessonholdings.com

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the general meetings
of the Company.
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Constitutional Documents

On 10 January 2025, a special resolution was passed at the Company’s
SGM to make certain amendments to the Bye-laws to facilitate the operation
of the co-chairmanship structure, in order to ensure that there is clarity on
the operation of the Bye-laws as regards the chairing of Board meetings and
general meetings when at any time there are Co-Chairmen of the Board.

The updated Bye-laws have been adopted and posted on the Company’s
website and the Stock Exchange’s website.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company is committed to enhancing communications and relationships
with its investors. Designated senior management maintains an open
dialogue with institutional investors and analysts to keep them abreast of the
Company’s developments.

The Company also maintains a website at www.tessonholdings.com, where
updates on the Company’s business developments and operations, financial
information and news can always be found.

CODE OF CONDUCT

The Company is committed to high standard of business ethics and integrity. A
code of conduct is enforced on all employees of the Group. The employees at
all levels are expected to act in an honest, diligent and responsible manner. No
personal gifts or other forms of advantages from any person or organisation
doing business with the Group can be accepted by any employee. Business
partners and customers are reminded from time to time that its policy forbids
any employee or agent of the Group from accepting any gift from them.
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
TESSON HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Tesson Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) set out on pages 58 to 128, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2024,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements which
mentions that the Group incurred a loss of approximately HK$163,587,000
and operating cash outflow of approximately HK$37,965,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2024 and as at 31 December 2024, the Group had net
current liabilities of approximately HK$34,904,000. These conditions indicate
a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this
matter.

BXEZRARAARR
(REREF ML BRAA])
=R

FLERENEBAEE128BERERERER
T(f DR D REMB AR (GEEEE]) 2
FEMBERE  BER_T_MOF+_A=1—
BZHGEUMBRRERNRBEZR LFEZ&GA
BEalkAEMEERER  SEESEPHRNEE
RengR UAEAMBRAENMIE  B8REEX
FETBEREM -

Dlﬂ

EREB - ZEFRAVBRACRIBEE B
A@U?%ﬁ*ﬁ“ﬁDﬁ%2§%%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ
A(TEBMBHREEN DEEMAFREK &
SER-_Z_ME+-_A=1T—BZ&EaMBHENR
AREBEZALFEZGEYBRALGAR
ERE  YEEBREBBLFEKIIZHEREZ R
TR

RRER

%i*ﬁ?ﬁ%i’é/’\‘ﬁﬁﬂi"AﬁﬁﬁﬁZEi’%%‘ﬁf&E'J
([ERBEFERETER - ZEEAIT
ZEEEA E’J#&ttWW?%(Eﬂi?f%ﬁT/\@M“
/,\EKB*ZTEJ*EHL Pz Bud @TF—E?/%
g quEﬂi"AZFra&% =R IFER ST IS - VR DI
FBuR BE5ME - EEL?E?H'JJ@??E@%%

Aif - B5HME BFEGZERERERE
3@%%2%%%2%??%&@%%%

BRFERENERTHBRE

BRIESAUMBERE MR BEEENE
E_g_miJr_ﬂer AItFEEAEEY
163,587,000 7T [ & 38 IR & 7 i #937,965,000
B MRZZE-NF+=—A=+—H ~%EH
BREEEFEAIZ4,904,0008 7T ° L EBENAE
TEEERTHPREZE - ety ESENRFE
%«**ﬁamﬁﬁéﬁ B o BRIV EN BB EIEE
FIEMREBE

“TONEFERE REERARAT

53



@_K v o
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B 2B RS

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. In
addition to the matters described in the Material Uncertainty Related to Going
Concemn section, we have determined the matters described below to be the
key audit matters to be communicated in our report.

(i)

Property, plant and equipment
Refer to Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group tested the amount of property, plant and equipment for
impairment. This impairment test is significant to our audit because the
balance of property, plant and equipment of HK$97,592,000 as at 31
December 2024 is material to the consolidated financial statements. In
addition, the Group’s impairment test involves application of judgement
and is based on assumptions and estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

Assessing the reasonableness of the key assumptions;

Assessing the Group’s review procedure to support the accuracy
of carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment;

Assessing the competence, independence and integrity of the
external valuer engaged by client;

Assessing the disclosure of the fair value measurement in the
consolidated financial statements;

Evaluating the Group’s impairment assessment;

Obtaining the external valuation reports and meeting with the
external valuer to discuss and challenge the valuation process,
methodologies used and market evidence to support significant

judgments and assumptions applied in the valuation model;

Checking key assumptions and input data in the valuation model
to supporting evidence; and

Checking arithmetical accuracy of the valuation model.

We consider that the Group’s impairment review for property, plant and
equipment is supported by the available evidence.
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(i) Trade, bills and other receivables, deposits and (i) EWEZED EERHEMWERKES

prepayments HEASANE ]

Refer to Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements. B2HEEMIEERE 520 ©

The Group performed recoverability review on the amounts of trade, BEEBEHREWESEREN RELEME

bills and other receivables, deposits and prepayments. The implication WERFR ~ Fl @ MM RIBZ @ 5T (O

of recoverability review is significant to our audit because the carrying U 2R - AT BHE ESE 2 EBZE

amount of trade, bills and other receivables, deposits and prepayments HEE ERAREKVESERR  ZEEEE

of approximately HK$255,786,000 as at 31 December 2024 is material EWIRIK Al MENRER TN

to the consolidated financial statements. In addition, the Group’s F+ = A=+—H ZRHE{E4)255,786,000

impairment test involves application of judgement and is based on BTHGAMKEEMEBEE KR - It
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Our audit procedures included, among others: EEEZREFBRE(ERaE)

- Assessing the Group’s procedures on granting credit limits and — i EEEREPMEBARLE
credit periods to customers and debtors; BRENMEEHSHZER

- Assessing the Group’s relationship and transaction history with the — My BEEERERENEBAZHEEZ
customers and debtors; MR Gk

- Evaluating the Group’s recoverability assessment; — iz BB AR

-  Assessing aging of the debts; - FHLEBRE

—  Assessing creditworthiness of the customers; - HMEEFZER:

-  Checking subsequent settlements and usage of the receivable — BERWUHBBZEREENRERB
balance; and oo Rk

- Assessing the disclosure of the Group’s exposure to credit risk in — TEEEAEMKEET ES£EEY
the consolidated financial statements. BEERKZFER

We consider that the Group’s recoverability review on trade, bills and EERE BEBCZEVESERR  EiE

other receivables, deposits and prepayments is supported by the
available evidence.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) are responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises all the information in the
Company’s annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information identified and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the Directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors are responsible
for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B BT3RS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with Section 90 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements is located at the HKICPA’s website at:

https://www.hkicpa.org.hk/en/Standards-setting/Standards/Our-views/auditre

This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Li Shun Fai

Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number P05498
Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
meEmREMEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE—-T-ME+=—A=+—HILFE

2024 2023
“ECmE —E-=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
e FET FET
Revenue Wz 8 66,713 129,159
Cost of sales SHERA (66,345) (126,967)
Gross profit E7 368 2,192
Other loss and income, net HibE1E R FER 9 (27,332) 23,857
Distribution and selling expenses i RIHERT (4,247) (4,760)
Administrative expenses THR S (129,468) (117,525)
Loss from operation REEE (160,679) (96,236)
Finance costs BB A 11 (2,908) @,777)
Loss before tax MREAIEE (163,587) (101,013)
Income tax expenses FT{sRif = 12 - -
Loss for the year KEEEE 13 (163,587) (101,013)
Other comprehensive expense Htt 2 ER X
Items that may be reclassified to B 7 EERm2EE -
profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translating foreign BERINERFEA ZINERBRER
operations (8,297) (10,444)
Items that will not be reclassified to EBTEEN P EEEEZEA -
profit or loss:
Deficiency arising on revaluation of Y% BERREEEL
property, plant and equipment e (16,455) (2,115)
Deferred tax effect arising on revaluation of EfME - BERREBES ZRT
property, plant and equipment BB E 4,081 528
(20,671) (12,031)
Total comprehensive expense for the year REE2EAXZELE (184,258) (113,044)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME ‘ ¢
mEBEmkHMEEmKGE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE—-T-ME+=—A=+—HILFE

2024 2023
—EomE —E-=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
e FET FET
Loss for the year attributable to: THATEERFERR
Owners of the Company ZN/NEI SN (142,893) (89,726)
Non-controlling interests FEIR R 2 (20,694) (11,287)
(163,587) (101,013)
Total comprehensive expense for THATEERFEZEBAS A
the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company ZA/NSIEZZEDN (153,698) (93,493)
Non-controlling interests IR (30,560) (19,551)
(184,258) (113,044)
(gE5)
(Restated)
Loss per share BREE 16
Basic (HK cents per share) BER(BHEM) (69.54) (60.48)
Diluted (HK cents per share) S (BZREN) (69.54) (60.48)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
Fa BRI E

At 31 December 2024 H-Z-F+_-H=+—8H

2024 2023
—EBNEF —E-=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Bz FET FET
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BE NERE 17 97,592 203,463
Right-of-use assets ERAREEE 18 55,005 60,496
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, EEWE  mELREZEMNETS
plant and equipment - 635
152,597 264,594
Current assets RENEE
Inventories TE 19 2,196 40,504
Trade, bills and other receivables, FEUE S ERFN - 3R R E b EUGBRE -
deposits and prepayments HE3 SN E e 20 255,786 291,284
Financial assets at fair value through BAVEFAEZZEREE
profit or loss 29 50
Bank and cash balances IRITRIRS 84 21 9,552 2,598
267,563 334,436
Current liabilities mEEE
Trade and other payables FEE Z 8RR B RS BR IR 22 269,140 305,254
Contract liabilities AHBE 23 419 3,541
Lease liabilities HEaE 18 1,808 3,679
Borrowings ==y 24 30,965 48,113
Amount due to the controlling shareholder — JE{xH2 B A% B BR 31 25 135 539
302,467 361,126
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION ¢’
ARE R R

At 31 December 2024 H-Z-F+_-H=+—8H

2024 2023
—EBNEF —E-=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
it FET FET
Net current liabilities REBAEFEE (34,904) (26,690)
Total assets less current liabilities EEAERAREBAR 117,693 237,904
Non-current liabilities kFRBEE
Lease liabilities MHEBE 18 247 1,513
Deferred tax liabilities FEFIEEE 26 4,528 8,870
4,775 10,383
NET ASSETS EEFE 112,918 227,521
Capital and reserves ERREE
Share capital &N 27 21,969 148,349
Reserves i 28 312,015 269,678
Equity attributable to owners of R EEE AL I
the Company 333,984 418,027
Non-controlling interests FEEAR (221,066) (190,506)
TOTAL EQUITY B 112,918 227,521

The consolidated financial statements on pages 58 to 128 were approved $58B 2 F128B 2 AV KEEEHEFERN
and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 March 2025 and are Z—ZE-RF =A==+ /\BEHMREETE - W Hh

signed on its behalf by: TAEEFREREE
Wei Mingren Chan Wei
BE 593
Director Director
EF EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
GEEREBR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE—-T-ME+=—A=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARAREAEL
Foreign Retained
Capital Asset currency profits/ Non-
Share  redemption Share  revaluation translation  (accumulated controlling
capital reserve premium reserve reserve losses) Total interests Total
s HEEXR  REEN/

Bx  EERE  BEEE RESMGE #E (RHER) i FERER it
HKSOO0  HKSOOO  HKSOOO  HKSOO0  HKSOO0  AKSOO0  HKBO0  HKSOWO  HKSOOO
FET 77T 77 77T 77 77T 77T 7T 77T

At1 January 2023 RZE-=F-f-A 148,349 624 824,140 40,361 (21,039 (463,659) 528,776 (188.211) 340,565
Total comprehensive expense for the year TEERERYER - - - (1,109 (2,664) (89,726) (93,493) (19,551) (113,044)
Deemed disposal of non-controling interests B {EHEFEE X - - - - 430) (16,826) (17,256) 17256 -
At 31 December 2023 it B 148349 04 84140 0258 @413 G021 418007 (1056 22751

At 1 January 2024 R-E-RmE-A-H 148,349 624 824,140 39,258 (24,133) (570,211) 418,027 (190,506) 227,521

Total comprenensive expense for the year AFERAN L% - - - (10,739) (66) (142,893) (153,698) (30,560) (184,258)
Issue of shares pon rights issue RERERRS 59,337 - (1429) - - - 57,915 - 57,915
Issue of shares upon subscription of shares ~ RNTERABETRA 12,000 - (260) - - - 11,740 - 11,740
Capital reduction EREE (197,717) - - - - 197,717 - - -
At 31 December 2024 RZE-mE+-A=1-H 21,969 624 822,458 28,519 (24,199) (515,387) 333,984 (221,066) 112,918
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS “
FREEEMER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE—-T-ME+=—A=+—HILFE

2024 2023
—ECNE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Cash flows from operating activities RETEHZRERE
Loss before tax BRELRIEIE (163,587) (101,013)
Adjustments for: ATIEEEL A%
Depreciation e 66,800 64,670
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ERAEEENE 4,236 7,419
Finance costs BhE AR 2,908 4777
Fair value changes on financial assets at BAVEFANER 2 SREEY
fair value through profit or loss NHEES) 21 54
Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets HEFAREEE 2 e - (8,114)
Impairment loss on trade receivables JEWE 5 8RR 2 R B 18 261 709
Interest income FEHA (98) (334)
Impairment loss on other receivables HAb BRI 2 BB EE 5,547 7,050
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEYE  BENKREZER
equipment - 12
Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment M - BENMEEZBEER 19,250 -
Written off of inventory GFE 2 3,317 -
Operating cash flows before working capital LBEECEPRI L KERERE
changes (61,345) (24,770)
Change in contract liabilities AR EE (3,062) (1,664)
Change in inventories FEEE) 34,351 (4,907)
Change in trade and other payables FERTE 5 BR R B Ho b -] BR 3 (28,315) 34,397
Change in trade, bills and other receivables, JEWE SRR~ BiR R A EIEARK -
deposits and prepayments & MIE N FRIEE E) 20,308 (6,652)
Cash used in operations RS ETHIR S (38,063) (3,596)
Interest received BHFLE 98 334
Net cash used in operating activities RESEE AR S FE (37,965) (3,262)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

GERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE—-T-ME+=—A=+—HILFE

2024 2023
—EBNEF —E=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FETT FET
Cash flows from investing activities RETHRERE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BAYE - WE NERE (1,603) (3,562)
Proceeds from disposal of right-of-use assets HEFREEEZATSIE - 20,452
Net cash (used in)/generated from REES(FTA) FiB2ReFE
investing activities (1,603) 16,890
Cash flows from financing activities ﬁiﬁ?ﬁiﬁ ZHRERE
Proceeds from issue of shares RREBIR N FFEITIRD 2 FTS5RIE
upon subscription of shares 11,740 -
Proceeds from issue of shares upon rights issue R BT (9 2 TS 508 57,915 -
Repayment of borrowings BiRER (17,148) (4,672)
Interest paid ERFE (2,649) (4,166)
Repayment to the controlling shareholder BEERR IR TR (404) (36)
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHEBR (984) (4,608)
Lease interest paid BERNEERE (259) (611)
Advance from the controlling shareholder K B PERR AR BR A - 30
Net cash generated from/(used in) financing BMEEERE (TR 2R&FHE
activities 48,211 (14,061)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and HeERBESESEWEM R )FE
cash equivalents 8,643 (433)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FYIRERRESEEBY
of the year 2,598 6,252
Effect of changes in foreign exchange rate YN FE RS E) 7 2 2 (1,689) (3,221)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year FRZEENESZEY 9,552 2,598
Analysis of cash and cash equivalents RERBSESENIN
Bank and cash balances RITNIRE 4 9,552 2,598
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
MR E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE—-T-ME+=—A=+—HILFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company
with limited liability. In the opinion of the directors of the Company (the
“Directors”), the Company’s controlling shareholder is Double Key
International Limited (the “Controlling Shareholder”), a company
incorporated in British Virgin Islands with limited liability. The address
of its registered office and principal place of business are Clarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda and Room 401A,
Empire Centre, 68 Mody Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong
respectively. The Company’s shares are listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company. During the year, the
Group principally engaged in the manufacturing and sale of lithium ion
motive battery, lithium ion battery module, battery charging devices,
battery materials machines and production lines, new energy solution
and sale of relevant equipment, investments holding and import and
export trading (the “Lithium lon Motive Battery Business”).

GOING CONCERN BASIS

The Group incurred a loss of approximately HK$163,587,000 and
operating cash outflow of approximately HK$37,965,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2024 and as at 31 December 2024, the Group had
net current liabilities of approximately HK$34,904,000. These conditions
indicate the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore,
the Group may be unable to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities
in the normal course of business.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going
concern basis, the validity of which depends upon the financial support
of the Controlling Shareholder, at a level sufficient to finance the working
capital requirements of the Group. The Controlling Shareholder has
agreed to provide adequate funds for the Group to meet its liabilities
as they fall due. The Directors are therefore of the opinion that it is
appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial statements on a going
concern basis. Should the Group be unable to continue as a going
concern, adjustments would have to be made to the consolidated
financial statements to adjust the value of the Group’s assets to their
recoverable amounts, to provide for any further liabilities which might
arise and to reclassify non-current assets and liabilities as current assets
and liabilities, respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMSERE MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE—-T-ME+=—A=+—HILFE

3.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)

In the current year, the Group has adopted all the new and revised Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”) issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) that are
relevant to its operations and effective for its accounting year beginning
on 1 January 2024. HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRS”); Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKAS”);
and Interpretations. The adoption of these new and revised HKFRSs
did not result in significant changes to the Group’s accounting policies,
presentation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements and
amounts reported for the current year and prior years.

The Group has not applied the new HKFRSs that have been issued but
are not yet effective. The Group has already commenced an assessment
of the impact of these new HKFRSs but is not yet in a position to state
whether these new HKFRSs would have a material impact on its results
of operations and financial position.

(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs - effective 1 January 2024

The following amendments to standards have been adopted by
the Group for the first time for the financial year beginning on 1

3.

R R B BY RS
ZRA(TEBMBREER )

RAFEE  AEBCRNBTESFHMAE
(IBEBEEMAE ) RMZMAENT RE
ERIRAEMBREEN (BB BRESE
Bl ZEEABELZERBEIN_-F
“ME-A-BRBZEFFEREEN &
BUBRELENBEE BB HREER
([BERMBREEA ) BEGER
(TEBEERA])  RRE - RAZEM
Rl REERT BB M SRS 2RI W E G TR
SEEHBR  AEERAFEBEF
BZHFEAaMBHRR2ERERER

AEBHRKEAEBMERERNHTE
B BHmEER - AEEERBFEZE
A BAMBREENZHE - HEAREE
FRAREN BBV B RELENEEHE
BRMBIRNBEATE -

(a) BRMEFERBITEBUBRE
EA-H-ZB-—MNE—-—A—BE
£

AEFDRA - -_ME— A — QK
BT FE RN T EREET

January 2024: PN

HK-int 5 Amendments in relation to Amendments to HKAS 1

BAREESR AT B ERE 1RSI MIEL BEET

HKFRS 16 Amendments in relation to Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

BB ImERERFE 1658 ARASERMERMNEERENER]

HKAS 1 Amendments in relation to Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
BAGFTERIER BRAREEGERB B ED ANEE]

HKAS 1 Amendments in relation to Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

BAGTERAER
HKFRS 7 and HKAS 7
BANGHREENETHR L
BAGRTEETHR

BB EREAE ZHER]
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IRE MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE—-T-ME+=—A=+—HILFE

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG 3. BRI RELEIEAMBERE
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS XA|([&E HweEER ) (4])
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but not yet (b) TEMERERNHFTLIET
effective EBRMEREER

The following new and revised amendments to HKFRSs have
been issued but are not effective for the financial year beginning
on 1 January 2024, and have not been early adopted by the

REEHEM -

TOIFRET BB F S R R EAER]
HERARL =T —MF—
A—BENPHRERELER - BAE

Group. ] (8 R I RTERAN ©
Effective for annual
periods beginning
on or after
RUTEHSR 2%
IR FERBER
HKAS 21 Amendments in relation to Lack of Exchangeability 1 January 2025
R G ERIZE215% BRATRZ Al KR eERT —E_hF—-HA—H
HKFRS 1 Hedge Accounting by a First-time Adopter 1 January 2026
BRI ERELERIE5R BRERME SRR —ERF-A—H
HKFRS 7 Gain or Loss on Derecognition 1 January 2026
BRI ELERIETR R IEFER B AR —ERF—-A—H

Guidance on implementing

HKFRS 7
BheE B GRS LB TREES
Guidance on implementing

HKFRS 7
BheE B GRS LB TREES
HKFRS 7 and HKFRS 9

BANGHREENETHRRE
BN RS EALH
HKFRS 7 and HKFRS 9

BN BEIREERNF 75N
BB BEHREERFIR

HKFRS 9
AN RS AL
HKFRS 9
BN RE AL
HKFRS 10
BANGHREEAE105:
HKAS 7
BAGTEANETH
HKFRS 18
BANGREEAE185E
HKFRS 19

BANGREEAE195E
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28

ERARBHRELEFEI10RLETES
STAERI 52857

Disclosure of Deferred Difference between Fair Value
and Transaction Price
DABEEAR ZES 2 HNEEEE 2 HE

Introduction and Credit Risk Disclosures

BN RIEERREE
Amendments in relation to Classification and
Measurement of Financial Instruments

ERERITANDBRTENESR

Amendments in relation to Contracts Referencing
Nature-dependent Electricity

BRP MK B RERNEN B HIRESRT

Derecognition of Lease Liabilities

HRIFEREEAE

Transaction Price

RHER

Determination of a ‘De Facto Agent’

[BEEREAINEE

Cost Method

BRARE

Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements

WS HRENEY R HEE

Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosure

TARHMEBEMNHELR - KE

Amendments in relation to Sale or Contribution of
Assets between an Investor and its Associate or
Joint Venture

FEREERHEBENAREECE HANEELE
ST B EMER]

1 January 2026

R —H—H
1 January 2026

—ZEZXRF—H—H
1 January 2026

—E-RF—H—H

1 January 2026

R —H—H
1 January 2026
—E-RF-H—H
1 January 2026

—= —/ \E'E H El
1 January 2026

—= —/ \E'E H El
1 January 2026
—E-RF—H—H
1 January 2027
S e
1 January 2027
S e =
TBD

3
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B ERE A

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE—-T-ME+=—A=+—HILFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4, BEREFEE

Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by HKICPA, and the applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, except for property, plant and equipment and
certain financial instruments, which are measured at revalued amounts
or fair values, as explained in the accounting policies set out below.
These consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$”) and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
except when otherwise indicated.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires the use of key assumptions and estimates. It
also requires management to exercise its judgments in the process of
applying the accounting policies. The areas involving critical judgments
and areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to these
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 5 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS “
e IRE M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE—-T-ME+=—A=+—HILFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. EXEFBER(E)

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements
of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 31 December.
Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has control. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the entity. The Group has power over an
entity when the Group has existing rights that give it the current ability
to direct the relevant activities, i.e. activities that significantly affect the
entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential voting rights as
well as potential voting rights held by other parties, to determine whether
it has control. A potential voting right is considered only if the holder has
the practical ability to exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date the
control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results in a loss
of control represents the difference between (i) the fair value of the
consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any investment retained
in that subsidiary and (ii) the Company’s share of the net assets of that
subsidiary plus any remaining goodwill relating to that subsidiary and any
related accumulated foreign currency translation reserve.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries not
attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Company. Non-controlling
interests are presented in the consolidated statement of financial
position and consolidated statement of changes in equity within equity.
Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income as an allocation of profit
or loss and total comprehensive income for the year between the non-
controlling shareholders and owners of the Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
shareholders even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE—-T-ME+=—A=+—HILFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. EXEFBER(E)

Consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions
(i.e. transactions with owners in their capacity as owners). The carrying
amounts of the controlling and non-controlling interests are adjusted
to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any
difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests
are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received
is recognised directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the
Company.

Business combination and goodwiill

The acquisition method is used to account for the acquisition of
a subsidiary in a business combination. The cost of acquisition is
measured at the acquisition-date fair value of the assets given, equity
instruments issued, liabilities incurred and contingent consideration.
Acquisition-related costs are recognised as expenses in the periods in
which the costs are incurred and the services are received. Identifiable
assets and liabilities of the subsidiary in the acquisition are measured at
their acquisition-date fair values.

The excess of the cost of acquisition over the Company’s share of
the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets and liabilities is
recorded as goodwill. Any excess of the Company’s share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition is
recognised in consolidated profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase
which is attributed to the Company.

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired. Goodwill
is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. The method
of measuring impairment losses of goodwill is the same as that of other
assets as stated in the accounting policy below. Impairment losses
of goodwill are recognised in consolidated profit or loss and are not
subsequently reversed. Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units
that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the acquisition for the
purpose of impairment testing.

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary are initially measured at
the non-controlling shareholders’ proportionate share of the net fair value
of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets and liabilities at the acquisition
date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
MR E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE—-T-ME+=—A=+—HILFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currency translation

@)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s
entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars, which is the Company’s functional and
presentation currency.

Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the functional
currency on initial recognition using the exchange rates prevailing
on the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign
currencies are translated at the exchange rates at the end of each
reporting period. Gains and losses resulting from this translation
policy are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair values in foreign
currencies are translated using the exchange rates at the dates
when the fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in other
comprehensive income, any exchange component of that gain or
loss is recognised in other comprehensive income. When a gain
or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or loss, any
exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised in profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IRE MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE—-T-ME+=—A=+—HILFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

()

Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group entities that have
a functional currency different from the Company’s presentation
currency are translated into the Company’s presentation currency
as follows:

- Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position
presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of
that statement of financial position;

- Income and expenses are translated at average exchange
rates (unless this average is not a reasonable approximation
of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the
transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are
translated at the exchange rates on the transaction dates);
and

- All resulting exchange differences are recognised in the
foreign currency translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation
of the net investment in foreign entities and of borrowings are
recognised in the foreign currency translation reserve. When
a foreign operation is sold, such exchange differences are
recognised in consolidated profit or loss as part of the gain or loss
on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of
a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign
entity and translated at the closing rate.

Property, plant and equipment

Buildings comprise mainly factories and offices. Property, plant and
equipment are carried at fair values, based on periodic valuations
by external independent valuers, less subsequent depreciation and
impairment losses. Any accumulated depreciation at the date of
revaluation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset
and the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
MR E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE—-T-ME+=—A=+—HILFE

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the
Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other
repairs and maintenance are recognised in profit or loss during the
period in which they are incurred.

Revaluation increases of property, plant and equipment are recognised
in profit or loss to the extent that the increases reverse revaluation
decreases of the same asset previously recognised in profit or loss. All
other revaluation increases are credited to the asset revaluation reserve
as other comprehensive income. Revaluation decreases that offset
previous revaluation increases of the same asset remaining in the asset
revaluation reserve are charged against the asset revaluation reserve as
other comprehensive income. All other decreases are recognised in profit
or loss. On the subsequent sale or retirement of a revalued property,
plant and equipment, the attributable revaluation increases remaining in
the asset revaluation reserve is transferred directly to retained profits.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated at rates
sufficient to write off their revalued amounts less their residual values
over the estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The principal
annual rates are as follows:

Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the term of the lease or

25 years
Plant and Machinery 4%-33%
Office equipment 20%
Motor vehicles 20%

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed
and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

Construction in progress represents buildings under construction and
plant and machinery pending installation, and is stated at cost less
impairment losses. Depreciation begins when the relevant assets are
available for use.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment is the
difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of
the relevant asset, and is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE—-T-ME+=—A=+—HILFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. EASFHBE(E)
Leases HE
The Group as Lessee AEEERATANA

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and corresponding lease
liabilities when the leased assets are available for use by the Group.
Right-of-use assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses. Depreciation of right-of-use assets is calculated
at rates to write off their cost over the shorter of the asset’s useful life
and the lease term on a straight-line basis. The principal annual rates are
as follows:

Buildings
Land

Over the lease term of 3 — 9 years
Over the lease term of 50 years

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the amount of
the initial measurement of the lease liabilities, lease payments prepaid,
initial direct costs and the restoration costs. Lease liabilities include the
net present value of the lease payments discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease if that rate can be determined, or otherwise the
Group’s incremental borrowing rate. Each lease payment is allocated
between the liability and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to
profit or loss over the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the lease liability.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets are recognised as expenses in profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over the lease terms. Short-term leases are leases with an initial
lease term of 12 months or less. Low-value assets are assets of value
below HK$39,000 (equivalent to approximately US$5,000).

The Group as lessor

Leases that do not substantially transfer to the lessees all the risks and
rewards of ownership of assets are accounted for as operating leases.
Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line
basis over the term of the relevant lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
MR E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE—-T-ME+=—A=+—HILFE

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost
is determined using the weighted average basis. The cost of finished
goods and work in progress comprises raw materials, direct labour
and an appropriate proportion of all production overhead expenditure,
and where appropriate, subcontracting charges. Net realisable value is
the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the
estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to
make the sale.

Recognition and derecognition of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the statement
of financial position when the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to receive
cash flows from the assets expire; the Group transfers substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets; or the Group
neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the assets but has not retained control on the assets.
On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received
and the cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other
comprehensive income is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in the
relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference
between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and
the consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
MR E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE—-T-ME+=—A=+—HILFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. EXEFBER(E)

Financial assets ctREE

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date MEBEEDREAOBRTBERHLE -
basis where the purchase or sale of an asset is under a contract whose MABAIGRTEFTRAEMBIEEREANR
terms require delivery of the asset within the timeframe established by W RlemBEEZR S BEERR LKL
the market concerned, and are initially recognised at fair value, plus R WP EAFESNEEETRS
directly attributable transaction costs except in the case of investments KATER - R AFEFABZZIRER
at fair value through profit or loss. Transaction costs directly attributable AN o WEEIR N FEFABRZIRETEE
to the acquisition of investments at fair value through profit or loss are X ZRKAENF R I8 ER ©

recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets of the Group are classified under the following AREBZEMEEIDEA

categories:

(@)  Financial assets at amortised cost @) EEEKIGEZ 2HEE
Financial assets (including trade and other receivables) are WemEE(RIERKE SHHERE
classified under this category if they satisfy both of the following o FEURGRIE ) 75 & A TG B8 At
conditions: pay I
- the assets are held within a business model whose objective — BENZEEABEEEINK

is to hold assets in order to collect contractual cash flows: BMEHNBReRE 2 EBEXFF
and g &k
- the contractual terms of the assets give rise on specified — BEZAHNGZTEHNETH
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and HEAGRBSINAS RE
interest on the principal amount outstanding. REFEZRERE °
They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the ZEEBERBRERABERN S A REE
effective interest method less loss allowance for expected credit RASRIBHE E BB 2 BERER
losses. =
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
(b) Investments at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets are classified under this category if they do
not meet the conditions to be measured at amortised cost and
the conditions of debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income unless the Group designates an equity
investment that is not held for trading as at fair value through other
comprehensive income on initial recognition.

Investments at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently
measured at fair value with any gains or losses arising from
changes in fair values recognised in profit or loss. The fair value
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss are net of any interest
income and dividend income. Interest income and dividend income
are recognised in profit or loss.

Loss allowances for expected credit losses

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses
on financial assets at amortised cost. Expected credit losses are the
weighted average of credit losses with the respective risks of a default
occurring as the weights.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group measures the loss
allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to the expected
credit losses that result from all possible default events over the
expected life of that financial instrument (“lifetime expected credit
losses”) for trade receivables, contract assets and lease receivables, or
if the credit risk on that financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition.

If, at the end of the reporting period, the credit risk on a financial
instrument (other than trade receivables and contract assets) has not
increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group measures the
loss allowance for that financial instrument at an amount equal to the
portion of lifetime expected credit losses that represents the expected
credit losses that result from default events on that financial instrument
that are possible within 12 months after the reporting period.

The amount of expected credit losses or reversal to adjust the loss
allowance at the end of the reporting period to the required amount is
recognised in profit or loss as an impairment gain or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE—-T-ME+=—A=+—HILFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. BEASHBEE)
Cash and cash equivalents HeERBESEEY
For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash RReREXRNST BeRkBeSEDE
equivalents represent cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits RITEFHEENRE  BITREMSRIH
with banks and other financial institutions, and short-term highly liquid BZEHFERARATEADMSBE RS

investments which are readily convertible into known amounts of cash
and subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. Bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s
cash management are also included as a component of cash and cash
equivalents.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according to
the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument under HKFRSs.
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in
the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities. The accounting
policies adopted for specific financial liabilities and equity instruments are
set out below.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs
incurred, and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has
an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12
months after the end of the reporting period.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE—-T-ME+=—A=+—HILFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. EXEFBER(E)

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are stated initially at their fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which
case they are stated at cost.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract
with a customer with reference to the customary business practices and
excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties. For a contract
where the period between the payment by the customer and the transfer
of the promised product or service exceeds one year, the consideration is
adjusted for the effect of a significant financing component.

The Group recognises revenue when it satisfies a performance obligation
by transferring control over a product or service to a customer.
Depending on the terms of a contract and the laws that apply to that
contract, a performance obligation can be satisfied over time or at a
point in time. A performance obligation is satisfied over time if:

- the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group’s performance;

- the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced; or

- the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to date.

If a performance obligation is satisfied over time, revenue is recognised
by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of that
performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in
time when the customer obtains control of the product or service.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Other revenue

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ rights to receive
payment are established.

Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Employee benefits

(@)

(b)

)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave and long service leave as
a result of services rendered by employees up to the at the end of
the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are not
recognised until the time of leave.

Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution retirement schemes
which are available to all employees. Contributions to the schemes
by the Group and employees are calculated as a percentage of
employees’ basic salaries. The retirement benefit scheme cost
charged in profit or loss represents contributions payable by the
Group to the funds.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of the dates
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits
and when the Group recognises restructuring costs and involves
the payment of termination benefits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE—-T-ME+=—A=+—HILFE

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take
a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment
income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used for the
purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount of borrowing costs
eligible for capitalisation is determined by applying a capitalisation rate
to the expenditures on that asset. The capitalisation rate is the weighted
average of the borrowing costs applicable to the borrowings of the
Group that are outstanding during the period, other than borrowings
made specifically for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they are incurred.

Government grants

A government grant is recognised when there is reasonable assurance
that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to it and that the
grant will be received.

Government grants that become receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related costs
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they become
receivable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE—-T-ME+=—A=+—HILFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. EASFHBE(E)
Research and development expenses MERBEEMAX

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the
period in which it is incurred. An internally generated intangible asset
arising from the Group’s development activities is recognised only if all of
the following conditions are met:

(@) Anasset is created that can be identified;

(b) It is probable that the asset created will generate future economic
benefits; and

(c) The development cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

Internally generated intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses. Amortisation is calculated on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. Where no internally
generated intangible asset can be recognised, development expenditure
is recognised in profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred.

Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable
profit differs from profit recognised in profit or loss because it excludes
items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years
and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
MR E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE—-T-ME+=—A=+—HILFE

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding
tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences
and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary
differences, unused tax losses or unused tax credits can be utilised.
Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that
affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences
arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates except where the
Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part
of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in
the period when the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period. Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except
when it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. EXEFBER(E)

Taxation (Continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment properties
that are measured using the fair value model, the carrying amounts of
such properties are presumed to be recovered through sale, unless
the presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the
investment property is depreciable and is held within a business model
of the Group whose business objective is to consume substantially all of
the economic benefits embodied in the investment property over time,
rather than through sale. If the presumption is rebutted, deferred tax
for such investment properties are measured based on the expected
manner as to how the properties will be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities
and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and
liabilities on a net basis.

Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group.

(@) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to
the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

@iy is a member of the key management personnel of the
Company or of a parent of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
MR E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE—-T-ME+=—A=+—HILFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

(b)

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions
applies:

M

(i)

(vi)

(vii)

(viil)

The entity and the Company are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow
subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity
(or an associate or joint venture of a member of a group of
which the other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit
of employees of either the Group or an entity related to the
Group. If the Group is itself such a plan, the sponsoring
employers are also related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the
entity or is a member of the key management personnel of
the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personnel services to the
Company or to a parent of the Company.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. EXEFBER(E)

Segment reporting

Operating segments and the amounts of each segment item reported
in the financial statements are identified from the financial information
provided regularly to the Group’s most senior executive management for
the purpose of allocating resources and assessing the performance of
the Group’s various lines of business.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for financial
reporting purposes unless the segments have similar economic
characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of products
and services, the nature of productions processes, the type or class
of customers, the methods used to distribute the products or provide
the services, and the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating
segments which are not individually material may be aggregated if they
share a majority of these criteria.

Impairment of assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life or not yet available
for use are reviewed annually for impairment and are reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the
carrying amount may not be recoverable.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible and other intangible assets except goodwill,
investment properties, investment, inventories and receivables, to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of any
impairment loss. Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and
value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
MR E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE—-T-ME+=—A=+—HILFE

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of assets (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to its recoverable amount.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless
the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of
the asset or cash-generating unit is increased to the revised estimate of
its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined (net
of amortisation or depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset or cash-generating unit in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the
relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal
of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount
when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation arising
as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate
can be made. Where the time value of money is material, provisions are
stated at the present value of the expenditures expected to settle the
obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is
disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is
remote.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional information
about the Group’s position at the end of the reporting period or those
that indicate the going concern assumption is not appropriate are
adjusting events and are reflected in the financial statements. Events
after the reporting period that are not adjusting events are disclosed in
the notes to the financial statements when material.
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5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES 5. RBE#¥ R EFEM45

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

In the process of applying the accounting policies, the Directors have
made the following judgements that have the most significant effect on
the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

Going concern basis

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going
concern basis, the validity of which depends upon the financial support
of the Controlling Shareholder at a level sufficient to finance the working
capital requirements of the Group. Details are explained in Note 2 to
consolidated financial statements.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed
below.

(@  Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

The Group determines the estimated useful lives, residual values
and related depreciation charges for the Group’s property, plant
and equipment. This estimate is based on the historical experience
of the actual useful lives and residual values of property, plant and
equipment of similar nature and functions. The Group will revise
the depreciation charge where useful lives and residual values are
different to those previously estimated, or it will write-off or write-
down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been
abandoned or sold.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE—-T-ME+=—A=+—HILFE

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(b)

()

(d)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of the assets exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is determined with reference to the fair
value less costs of disposal and present value of estimated future
cash flows. Where the fair value less costs of disposal and future
cash flows are less than expected or there are unfavourable events
and change in facts and circumstance which result in revision of
fair value less costs of disposal and future estimate cash flows, a
material impairment loss may arise.

Impairment loss for bad and doubtful debts

The Group makes impairment loss for bad and doubtful debts
based on assessments of the recoverability of the trade and other
receivables, including the current creditworthiness and the past
collection history of each debtor. Impairments arise where events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the balances may not
be collectible. The identification of bad and doubtful debts requires
the use of judgement and estimates. Where the actual result is
different from the original estimate, such difference will impact the
carrying value of the trade and other receivables and doubtful debt
expenses in the year in which such estimate has been changed.

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of completion
and selling expense. These estimates are based on the current
market condition and the historical experience of manufacturing
and selling products of similar nature. It could change significantly
as a result of changes in customer taste and competitor actions
in response to severe industry cycles. The Group will reassess the
estimates by the end of each reporting period.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE—-T-ME+=—A=+—HILFE

6.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: foreign
currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk. The Group’s
overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of
financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the
Group’s financial performance.

(a)

(b)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency risk as most
of its business transactions, assets and liabilities are principally
denominated in the functional currencies of the Group entities of
HK$ and Renminbi (‘RMB”). The Group currently does not have
a foreign currency hedging policy in respect of foreign currency
transactions, assets and liabilities. The Group will monitor its
foreign currency exposure closely and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

Credit risk

The carrying amount of the trade and other receivables included
in the consolidated statement of financial position represents the
Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to the Group’s
financial assets.

It has policies in place to ensure that sales are made to customers
with an appropriate credit history. Amounts due from the
subsidiaries disposed are closely monitored by the Directors. The
Directors make periodic collective assessment as well as individual
assessment on the recoverability of trade and other receivables
based on historical settlement record and past experience. The
Directors believe that there is no material credit risk inherent in the
Group’s outstanding balance of other receivables.

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event that
counterparties fail to perform their obligations at 31 December
2024 in relation to each class of recognised financial assets is the
carrying amounts of those assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position. The Group’s credit risk is primarily
attributable to its trade and other receivables. In order to minimise
credit risk, the Directors have delegated a team to be responsible
for the determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures. In addition, the Directors review the
recoverable amount of each individual trade debt regularly to
ensure that adequate impairment losses are recognised for
irrecoverable debts. In this regard, the Directors consider that the
Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE—-T-ME+=—A=+—HILFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had certain
concentration of credit risk as approximately 14% (2023: 16%)
and 54% (2023: 44%) of the Group’s trade receivables were due
from the Group’s largest customer and the five largest customers,
respectively.

The Group considers whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk of financial assets on an ongoing basis throughout
each reporting period by comparing the risk of a default occurring
as at the reporting date with the risk of default as at the date of
initial recognition. It considers available reasonable and supportive
forwarding-looking information. Especially the following information
is used:

- internal credit rating;

- actual or expected significant adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to cause
a significant change to the borrower’s ability to meet its
obligation; and

- significant changes in the expected performance and
behavior of the borrower, including changes in the payment
status of borrowers.

The Group uses two categories for non-trade receivables
which reflect their credit risk and how the loan loss provision is
determined for each of the categories. In calculating the expected
credit loss rates, the Group considers historical loss rates for each
category and adjusts for forward looking data.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE—-T-ME+=—A=+—HILFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 6. MERRERE(E)
(c) Liquidity risk (c) RBELEMR
The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and expected AEEZHEBTHERE A L TEH
liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves IRHESTN  WMERANEE 4
of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer EEHRSRENENESHER R
term. HRRBE TR
The maturity analysis of the Group’s financial liabilities is as follows: AEEz 2B EIBHAFTET
Carrying
amounts Total contractual undiscounted cash flow
HREE ERANRHSREASE
Less than Between 1
Total 1 year and 2 years
@t —-£R —EEWEF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
At 31 December 2024 R-ZE-ME+=-A=1+—H
Trade and other payables BN B SRR LA MR ERR 269,140 269,140 269,140 -
Borrowings BE 30,965 33,442 33,442 -
Amount due to the Controlling JET AR A R R R
Shareholder 135 135 135 -
Lease liabilities HEaR 2,055 2,142 1,888 254
302,295 304,859 304,605 254
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=%5+-A=+—H
Trade and other payables RN B SBRA R E A B AR R 305,254 305,254 305,254 -
Borrowings HE 48,113 51,962 51,962 -
Amount due to the Controlling JET R AR R BR R
Shareholder 539 539 539 -
Lease liabilities ME&E 5,192 5,485 3,926 1,559
359,098 363,240 361,681 1,559
(d) Interest rate risk (d) FIRRpz

As the Group has no significant interest-bearing assets and
liabilities, the Group’s operating cash flows are substantially
independent of changes in market interest rates. The Group’s
borrowings bear interests at fixed interest rates.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE—-T-ME+=—A=+—HILFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(e) Fair values
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities as reflected in the consolidated statement of financial
position approximate their respective fair values.

() Financial instruments by category

The carrying amounts of each of the category of the Group’s
financial instruments at the end of the year are as follows:

B 7S [ B B B (48)

(e) A¥E
REFE IR R R 2 AN EE ¢ B
BEMEHBEZROEHEZAR
ERE -

(h RERESszEBMIA

REXR AEESESTAZER
(ER NN

2024 2023
—ECNE ZEC=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Financial assets SREE
Investments at fair value through profit or BRAFEGFABRZZESE
loss:
Designated as such upon initial LRI IEE
recognition 29 50
Financial assets at amortised cost BN AR 2 S REE
(including cash and cash equivalents) (BIEREESMRESEED) 258,044 280,368
Financial liabilities TRIAE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost REHENATRZ CRBE 300,240 353,906

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date. The following disclosures of fair value
measurements use a fair value hierarchy that categorises into three
levels the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value:

Level 1 inputs: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities that the Group can access at the measurement date.

Level 2 inputs: inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1
that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 inputs: unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE—-T-ME+=—A=+—HILFE

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) 7. AFEFEE)
The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out of any AREBZHRERSIRER 2 EHHBR
of the three levels as of the date of the event or change in circumstances FB4d 7 BRERTMN=ZEASH 28 A
that caused the transfer. i o
(a) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy: (@) ATFERBEREE:
2024
—ECNEF
Fair value measurements using:
AV EFTEHRA
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F-ER FIER FZER et

HK$’000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FET FAET FET

Recurring fair value measurements KEMNLEHE

Financial assets at fair value AT ERABE
through profit or loss SREE
Listed securities in Hong Kong EF EHES 29 - - 29
Property, plant and equipment ME - BE REEE - - 97,592 97,592
2023
BT
Fair value measurements using:
NHERERA -
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
EF—FER FIEH F=FHL “Et

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET

Recurring fair value measurements KHEMNALEHE

Financial assets at fair value AT ERABE S

through profit or loss SRUEE

Listed securities in Hong Kong EF EHES 50 - - 50
Property, plant and equipment YE -« BB MEE - - 203463 203,463

94 Tesson Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024



N

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
MR E MR
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7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) 7. DAEEFE(E)
(b) Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment b) ENFE=ZZLRLFETEZY
measured at fair value based on level 3: ¥ BERZREHE:
2024 2023
—E-NE —ECF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FEr
At 1 January n—HA—H 203,463 273,319
Addition NE 1,603 3,562
Total gains or losses recognised in other AE M 2 e P iR A 1B = 42 5
comprehensive income (16,455) (2,115)
Disposal & - (10)
Impairment HE (19,250) -
Depreciation e (66,800) (64,670)
Currency realignment B AR (4,969) (6,623)
At 31 December R+—-_A=+—H 97,592 203,463

(c)

The total gains or losses recognised in other comprehensive
income are presented in (deficiency)/surplus arising on revaluation
of property, plant and equipment in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group
and valuation techniques and inputs used in fair value
measurements at 31 December 2024 and 2023:

The Group’s finance team is responsible for the fair value
measurements of assets and liabilities required for financial
reporting purposes, including level 3 fair value measurements. The
finance team reports directly to the Directors for these fair value
measurements. Discussions of valuation processes and results are
held between the finance team and the Directors at least twice a
year.

For level 3 fair value measurements, the Group will normally
engage external valuation experts with the recognised professional
qualifications and recent experience to perform the valuations.

(c)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE—-T-ME+=—A=+—HILFE

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) 7. AFEFEE)

(c) Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group (c) WER-E-_NFEFR-ZE=-=
and valuation techniques and inputs used in fair +ZA=+—HAXAEERERAZ
value measurements at 31 December 2024 and 2023: HEEREFREEFOEAFES
(Continued) EFffERAzE@AEE - (&)

Effect on fair
Valuation Unobservable value for increase Fair value
Description technique inputs Range of inputs 2024
B AgEY b S £:3
P fHERD TAERHAYE gE AHEZEE ZAYE
HK$°000
FET
Plant and machinery, motor Direct comparison Market value for similar assets  RMB1,200 - RMB388,900  Increase
vehicles, office equipment and depreciated BN EEZ A AR#1,200E il
and leasehold improvement  replacement cost AR %388,9007T
BERES B9 BT ERERERTE
FREREENERE BEERAE 97,592
Effect on fair
Valuation Unobservable value for increase Fair value
Description technique inputs Range of inputs 2023
EmaABE Y i Sk
FiL fhERT TAERH ALK i AHEZFE ZRTE
HK$'000
FET
Plant and machinery, motor ~ Direct comparison Market value for similar assets  RMB1,500 - RMB388,900  Increase
vehicles, office equipment and depreciated  JEEEZH{E AREE1 5002 #m
and leasehold improvement  replacement cost AR #388,9007T
BERES B8 HAER EENREIRMES
BERRENERE BRANE 203,463
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8.

REVENUE

The Group’s revenue was derived from lithium ion motive battery
products sold during the year and last year. Disaggregation of revenue
from contracts with customers is set out as below. For both years,
all revenue generated by the Group were derived from the PRC and
recognised at a point in time when the customers obtain control of the
goods or services.

g

AEBRAFER E-—FEZHRERED
SEBETHNEHER - FPEHZ WA
Mo - RMEFER AEEELZ
FIAWABREPELTREFPESE MK
RS 2 = IR RO B R B R

2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAETT FET
Lithium ion motive battery products TN B MER 66,713 129,159
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers and major REBRFEHNENHETEER 2 WD
products of the segments are as follows: O
2024 2023
—E-NE —EC=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET TFET
Major products/service TEER RS
Batteries B/, 66,713 129,159
Sales of Batteries HESE M

The Group manufactures and sells batteries to the customers. Sales are
recognhised when control of the products has transferred, being when
the products are delivered to a customer, there is no unfulfilled obligation
that could affect the customer’s acceptance of the products and the
customer has obtained legal titles to the products.

Sales to customers are normally made with credit terms of 30 to 60
days. For non state-owned enterprise or those without guarantee
provided, deposits or cash on delivery may be required. Deposits
received are recognised as contract liability.

A receivable is recognised when the products are delivered to
the customers as this is the point in time that the consideration is
unconditional because only the passage of time is required before the
payment is due.

AEBEERATPHEEL - BEMZ
2HIEEER  EMINTES » XH
BRIREFEEPEMERNRENEH K
BEPEBEMZIAEMEER - HERHEE

AEPIERZHE ZEEH—MRBB0E60
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o.

10.

OTHER LOSS AND INCOME, NET 9. HtSERIWAFERE
2024 2023
—E-E ZEC=F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Interest income FLEHA 98 334
Government grants ERAT 4 B - 63
(Loss)/gain on disposal of scrap products HEER(BE) WS (848) 5,623
Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets HEFREEENR - 8,114
Gain on waiver of trade and other payables R ENE SRR M ERERR
(Note) Wezs (B1t) 1,612 17,401
Impairment loss on trade receivables JEWE 5 BR TR B R 8 (261) (709)
Impairment loss on other receivables HAb EUIR K < BB EE (5,547) (7,050)
Impairment loss on property, plant and W - R NEREREEE
equipment (19,250) -
Written off of inventory =77 2 i 5H (3,317) -
Others HAtb 181 81
(27,332) 23,857
Note: Biat -
Up to 31 December 2024, certain supplier did not pursue the Group to settle the HE-_Z-_WWF+-_A=+—8 HETHEFX

outstanding balance over 3 years. According to PRC “Civil Code”, the statute of
limitations for ordinary claims is three years.

On 3 November 2023, the Intermediate People’s Court of Shenzhen city ordered
Tesson New Energy (Shenzhen) Limited (“Tesson Shenzhen”), a subsidiary of
the Company, to pay approximately RMB1,522,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$1,676,000) and overdue interests to the supplier. The remaining balance of
approximately RMB15,740,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$17,401,000)
was waived for the year ended 31 December 2023.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group’s reportable segments are strategic business units that offer
different products. They are managed separately because each business
unit requires different technology and marketing strategies. During the
current year, the Group’s revenue and profit or loss were derived from
the Lithium lon Motive Battery Business and internet sales business (the
“Internet Sales Business”).

Segment profits or losses do not include unallocated corporate income
and expenses. Segment assets do not include unallocated corporate
assets. Segment liabilities do not include unallocated corporate liabilities.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE—-T-ME+=—A=+—HILFE

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 10. 7 EER (&)

Information about profit or loss, assets and liabilities of the reportable BRI EHHHEFNEE EEREE

segments: BER
Lithium lon
Motive Internet
Battery Sales
Business Business Total
SEEEFEN D =R
ESNUE S HEEK “st
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FEIT FEIT FET
Year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_E_-_MME+=—A
=t—-HLFE
Revenue from external customers INERE F U S 66,713 - 66,173
Segment loss S EBETIE (139,868) (2,238) (142,106)
Depreciation e 66,727 52 66,779
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEETE 3,354 258 3,612
Additions to segment non-current assets &5 ZBIEGR BN EE 1,610 - 1,610
At 31 December 2024 N-E-_ME+=-A
=+—H
Segment assets DEEE 410,537 11 410,548
Segment liabilities DEEE 222,140 1,815 223,955
Year ended 31 December 2023 BE-—E-—=5+=A1
=+—HLEE
Revenue from external customers INERE M 129,159 - 129,159
Segment loss HEEE (71,486) (7,601) (79,087)
Depreciation e 64,576 65 64,641
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEITE 4,203 451 4,654
Additions to segment non-current assets Y& 5 ZBIEREN A E 6,091 - 6,091
At 31 December 2023 R-B-=F+=A
=+—H
Segment assets DEHEE 594,943 2,621 597,564
Segment liabilities NEEE 270,788 2,219 273,007
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10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 10. 7 EER (&)

Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue, profit or loss, assets and AZWmoy ks mMEE  BEERE
liabilities: EHER
2024 2023
—E-NE —ECF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FETT FET
Revenue g
Total revenue of reportable segments A] 2o Efsalk s 66,713 129,159
Profit or loss R SRR
Total loss of reportable segments A 23D 4R E1E (142,106) (79,087)
Corporate and unallocated loss ERARDBLEIE (21,481) (21,926)
Consolidated loss for the year AREEEEEIE (163,587) (101,013
Assets EE
Total assets of reportable segments 2w REE 410,548 597,564
Corporate and unallocated assets PERADEEE 9,612 1,466
Consolidated total assets MAEBEE 420,160 599,030
Liabilities =R
Total liabilities of reportable segments AIEMOEREE 223,955 273,007
Corporate and unallocated liabilities TERASEERE 83,287 98,502
Consolidated total liabilities mERaE 307,242 371,509
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10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

11.

Geographical information

All revenue generated by the Group were derived from the PRC.

10.

2 EBER ()

‘6

A&z FrBEKRETRE PR -

Revenue from major customers: FERFPUE
2024 2023
—E-E ZEC-=F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET T
Customer A ZFPA N/A T3 3+ 21,001
Customer B ®FB N/A & F# 14,698
Customer C ®FC 8,854 N/A I~
# Customer did not contribute more than 10% of the total consolidated # EEFRFATEERAEBGAS RGBT
revenue of the Group for the year. 10% A £ °
In presenting the geographical information, revenue is based on the REFHEERE - WREE P AT EE
location of the customers. At the end of the year, the non-current assets 7o RER  REBIERBEEMME N
of the Group were located as follows: Ik
2024 2023
—E-MmEF —E=F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FETT FET
Non-current assets RBEE
Hong Kong B 697 634
The PRC Fh 151,900 263,960
152,597 264,594
FINANCE COSTS 11. @ERA
2024 2023
—E-ME —E_=F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Interest expenses on borrowings BERN SR 2,649 4,166
Lease interests HERE 259 611
2,908 4,777

I NFEFERE
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE—-T-ME+=—A=+—HILFE

12. INCOME TAX EXPENSES 12. FIfBFHiBX
2024 2023
—ECZNE —ET o=
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHET T
PRC Enterprise Income Tax for the year REEFBIBEMEH - -

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax was required since the Group
has no assessable profit in Hong Kong for the years presented.

According to the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax, all group
companies operating in the PRC are subject to the applicable tax rate
of 25%, except for certain subsidiaries that are qualified for the tax
benefit of being the National High-tech Enterprise, that are entitled to a
preferential tax rate of 15% during the reporting years.

The reconciliation between the income tax and the loss before tax is as

MRS BN 25 FEAESE W EERK
A BB ENEHELEE -

BIBFPBIDEMRERE - RPRREEART
BEBEARIBEZRERBER25%HMMELIE -
HEETHBRARNEEREZERR SR
MEEIMBEESR  IRBEFEZXE
B E15% °

PRSTR BRI AT AR 2 SRR T

follows:
2024 2023
—ECNE —E=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Loss before tax MrEERTE 1B (163,587) (101,013)
Notional tax on loss before tax calculated at B EEER R E 2 REAT
the PRC statutory rate Bz 2 EHIA (40,897) (25,253)
Tax effect of non-taxable income BERRKRAZ BT E (220) (5,654)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses AR AT 2 T & 6,665 1,432
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RIERBIBE R G2 23,099 21,962
Effect of different tax rates in other tax HA R AR AR E &
jurisdictions and tax concessions MR ZTE 11,353 7,513
Income tax expenses for the year FAFERAS - -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE—-T-ME+=—A=+—HILFE

13. LOSS FOR THE YEAR

(@)

13. A FEFHE

‘6

The Group’s loss for the year is stated after charging/(crediting) the (a) AEEHELLERZAFEEER
following: M GTA) T SEEYIR
2024 2023
—E-NE —Eo—F
HK$’000 HK$000
FET FET
Auditor’s remuneration IZEEN N & 900 900
Cost of inventories sold BEEFERA 66,345 126,967
Depreciation e 66,800 64,670
Depreciation of right-of-use asset FHREEENE 4,236 7,419
Gain on disposal of right-of-use asset HEFAREEE K - (8,114)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEWME - BERREZER
equipment - 10
Fair value loss on financial assets at fair BAFEFABRZEREEZ
value through profit or loss NEEERE 21 54
Research and development expenses I kAR 15,092 24,351
Staff costs (including directors’ B TR
remuneration (Note 14)): (BRIEESMES (HiE14)) -
Salaries, bonus and allowances O - HRE KOERL 22,174 27,837
Retirement benefits ERIREF 2,690 3,292
Impairment loss on various assets: b) ZEEEZBERSE :
2024 2023
—ECNE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Impairment loss on trade receivables FEUNE SRR BER 1B 261 709
Impairment loss on other receivables HAbEUAR K 2 RIEE 1B 5,547 7,050
Impairment loss on property, plant and W - R NEEORERE
equipment 19,250 -
25,058 7,759
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE—-T-ME+=—A=+—HILFE

14. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID

INDIVIDUALS’ EMOLUMENTS

14. EERTANVESHFATZHME

The emoluments of each Director were as follows: BEE MW -
Retirement
Salaries benefits
and other scheme
Fees benefits contributions Total
FMR BREF
e Hitp @7 BE 5 w@st
Note HK$°000 HK$000 HK$°000 HK$’000
Hrzt FET FET FET FET
Executive Directors HiTEE
Mr. Wei Qingwen EEEE 1 36 - 36
Mr. Wei Mingren BEXCHhAE 1 36 48 87
Mr. Chan Wei B E 180 1,008 18 1,206
Ms. Yu Xiaolei aEE Lt 180 1,020 - 1,200
Mr. Tin Kong AL 2 150 744 130 1,024
Ms. Cheng Hung Mui Hartgt 2 150 1,015 18 1,183
Ms. Liu Liu Az + 2 144 817 - 961
Mr. Yan Haiting BE=iE 1 36 322 - 358
Independent Non-Executive BIYHTES
Directors
Dr. Ng Ka Wing RREBLT 180 - - 180
Mr. Wang Jinlin TEMEE 180 - - 180
Mr. See Tak Wah MBS & 180 - - 180
Total for the year ended HE-_ZT-_MF
31 December 2024 +ZA=1+—H
3ty 1,452 4,974 169 6,595
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE—-T-ME+=—A=+—HILFE

14. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID

‘6

14. EERTANVESHFATZHME

INDIVIDUALS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued) (&)
Retirement
Salaries benefits
and other scheme
Fees benefits  contributions Total
& RRGEA
e HAER BE G @at
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Hrzt FET FET FET FET
Executive Directors HITES
Ms. Cheng Hung Mui Bartgt 2 180 1,218 18 1,416
Mr. Tin Kong W5 2 180 929 162 1,271
Mr. Chan Wei R 180 1,008 18 1,206
Ms. Liu Liu 2zt 2 180 1,020 - 1,200
Ms. Yu Xiaolei amEE Lt 45 255 - 300
Independent Non-Executive BIYFHTES
Directors
Dr. Ng Ka Wing RRE[LT 180 - - 180
Mr. Wang Jinlin TEMEE 180 - - 180
Mr. See Tak Wah ML 180 - - 180
Total for the year ended BE-Z-=fF
31 December 2023 TZA=+—HLEE
st 1,305 4,430 198 5,933
Notes: Bt -

1. Appointed on 20 October 2024

2. Resigned on 20 October 2024

The five highest paid employees during the year included five (2023:
four) directors, details of whose remuneration are set out in information
above. Details of the remuneration of the remaining one non-director and
highest paid employee in 2023 are as follows:

1. RZZEZNF+AZ+HESF

2. WRIZE-_NFF+A=-T+HET

RAFEAUGSHEERREIA(ZF
“=FER)EE AMEFRER L
=F BRI RBIEFR
SFEEZMEFHBWT

B - R=FT =

2024 2023

—ECNE TEC=F

HK$°000 HK$’000

FET FET

Salaries and other benefits N E e F - 533

ZEZNFFERSE
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE—-T-ME+=—A=+—HILFE

14. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID 14. EERANVESFALTZHME

INDIVIDUALS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

The number of non-directors, highest paid employee whose
remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows:

(%)

MENFTIBEZFEEESFHREEZ
ZgEMT

Number of employees

EE¥E
2024 2023
—EmE —E-=F

Emolument band & & E
HK$nil = HK$ 1,000,000

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, no emoluments
were paid by the Group to the five highest paid individuals, including
Directors, as an inducement to join the Group or as compensation for
loss of office other than those disclosed above. In addition, during the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, no Directors waived any
emoluments.

The Group provides retirement benefits in accordance with the relevant
laws and regulations in the place where the staff is employed. The Group
participates in the Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme
for its employees located in Hong Kong, under which contributions are
made based on a percentage of the employee’s basic salary according
to the rules of the scheme. Forfeited contributions may not be used to
reduce the existing level of contributions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ¢!
MR E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE—-T-ME+=—A=+—HILFE

15. DIVIDENDS 15. RE
The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend for the HE - Z-_NF+-_A=+—HIFE "
year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil). EEQgUERBRNEAMKRE(ZZE_=
F M) o
16. LOSS PER SHARE 16. BRE#E
Basic loss per share BREXREE
The calculation of basic loss per share attributable to owners of the RRABER AELERERERTIRER
Company is based on loss attributable to owners of the Company NalHEA AR E B #9142,893,000% 7T
of approximately HK$142,893,000 (2023: HK$89,726,000), and the —EFE - =4 :89,726,00087L) + RER
weighted average number of 205,479,126 (2023 restated: 148,348,670 B #17205,479,126 R ( —E —=F (K=
as adjusted to reflect the impact of share consolidation and rights issue) Fl]) : 148,348,670/%  AZ LA BLAS 15
ordinary shares in issue during the year. AR ERR L) TR 2 Nt ST
%" o
Diluted loss per share BRE#EEEER
No diluted loss per share is presented as the Company did not have HARARRRNEE - E_NER T =
any dilutive potential ordinary shares during the two years ended 31 FHZA=-+T—HULEREFELHEETWE
December 2024 and 2023. HEYENBELTRR  SUEZ2| B

BEER -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE—-T-ME+=—A=+—HILFE

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

17. Y% - BMERRE

Leasehold Plant and Motor Office  Construction
improvements machinery vehicles equipment  in progress Total
U
56 BEREE B RAERE ERIE a3t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK8'000
AT AT AT AT AT AT
Cost or valuation ﬁﬂiiﬁﬁ
At 1 January 2023 —F-=E-f-H 42,125 186,284 640 837 43433 273,319
Currency realignment “MEJW (1,099) 4,320) (15) (19 (1,170) (6,623)
Additions AE 45 2,704 - 26 787 3,562
Disposals e - - - (12) - (12)
Transfer iy 1,872 (1872) - - - -
Adjustment arising on revaluation RERMEEZ A% (10,508) (55,862) (105) (308) - (66,783)
At 31 December 2023 and i 2::¢+ A=1-H
1 January 2024 E-mE-F-H 32,435 126,934 520 524 43,050 203,463
Currency realignment U (680) (2,805) (1) M) (1,462) (4,969)
Additions AE - 1,603 - - - 1,603
Transfers &5 (6,731) 6,731 - -
Adjustment arising on revaluation RERMELZ A% (14,824) (87,188) (218) (275) - (102,505)
At 31 December 2024 RZEZMET=A=1-H 10,200 45,275 291 238 41,588 97,592
Accumulated depreciation and impairment  Z:HERAE
At 1 January 2023 RZE-=%-A-H - - - - - -
Charge for the year ERFEX 10,817 53,548 74 231 - 64,670
Disposals e - - - 2 - 2
Transfer i 109 (109 - - - -
Eliminated on revaluation Bt (10,926) (53,439) (74) (229) - (64,668)
At 31 December 2023 and RIBZZFTZA=1-H
1 January 2024 k=%-m%-R-H - - - - - -
Charge for the year FRRY 11,923 54,653 74 150 - 66,300
Transfer e (1,469) 1,465 - - - -
Eliminated on revaluation B4 (10,458) (56,118) (74) (150) - (66,800)
At 31 December 2024 RIE-NET-A=+-A - - - - - -
Carrying amounts KHE
At 31 December 2024 RZEZMEFZA=1T—H 10,200 45,275 291 238 41,588 97,592
At 31 December 2023 S g e = 32,435 126,934 520 524 43,050 203,463
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE—-T-ME+=—A=+—HILFE

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17. Y% - BER&RE(E)
(Continued)
At 31 December 2024, the Group’s property, plant and equipment RZE_NMF+_A=+—H AEEZ
of HK$634,000 (2023: HK$5,812,000) were pledged to secure the ¥ E R EEE34,000E T (ZE-=
acquisition of investment in an associate (Note 33). F 1 5,812,000/ 70 ) B EHR IR AR I EE

R R R IRE (15E33) ©

Had all the categories of the Group’s property, plant and equipment, HWAREE SEYE  WERRE(EEL
other than construction in progress, been carried at cost less RN TR AR RET T EY IR - Al
accumulated depreciation, the carrying values of property, plant and ¥ WEMREEATYEREEER :

equipment would have been stated as follows:

2024 2023

kS -3 3
Accumulated Accumulated
depreciation depreciation

and Carrying and Carrying

Cost  impairment amounts Cost  imparment amounts
BitE ZithE

S R REE g KAfE M

HK$'000  HKS000  HK$000  HKSO000  HK$000  HK'000
FET FET FET T T TAT

Leasghold improvements HEMELEE 42,671 29,704 12,967 51,544 28,239 23,305
Plant and machinery i 394,071 247,835 146,236 388,542 249,300 139,242
Motor vehicles B 7,290 6,806 394 7,301 6,822 479
Office equipment WRERE 5,246 4,719 507 5,257 4,569 688

449,278 289,154 160,124 452,644 288,930 163,714
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE—-T-ME+=—A=+—HILFE

18. LEASES AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 18. HERFHAEEE
Disclosures of lease-related items: WEBEMREER
2024 2023
—E-ME —E =
HK$°000 HK$’000
FAETT FETL
At 31 December: R+t=—B=+—8:
Right-of-use assets EREEE
- Land — i 53,375 56,506
— Building —1&F 1,630 3,990
55,005 60,496

The maturity analysis, based on undiscounted ERRURIBEMENTEE

cash flows, of the Group’s lease liabilities is HEABENIEHBE W T
as follows:

Within one year —F R 1,888 3,926

In the second year E_F 254 1,559
2,142 5,485

Year ended 31 December: BZE+=-A=+—HILLEE:

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets FREEENITERS

- Land — b 1,237 1,412

— Building —&F 2,999 6,007
4,236 7,419

Total cash outflow for leases HEMRS R 2% 1,243 5,217

Additions to right-of-use assets NEFTREEE 710 2,529

Lease interests HEME 259 611

The land parcel is subject to an execution order for an auction in relation ZIRE S R AL E N E A F 2 FFERR

to a claim of capital reduction amounted to RMB11,000,000 made by a AL AR 11,000,000 7T % A 81| )8 = 18 T

non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary of the Group. The Group had WEBABHTS  c AEBDIREHITE

filed an execution objection application and is being processed. R BRIERERERE

The Group leases various buildings and land. Lease agreements AREBHEZEEFTR T - HEHZEHN

are typically made for fixed periods of 3 to 9 years. Lease terms are EEHREE ASEIF - MEKHR L

negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different BIEEEITHER  BESEIRNER KL

terms and conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any &1 - HEWZEIE T3S - mi

covenants and the leased assets may not be used as security for EEETSHEEEREHER -

borrowing purposes.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE—-T-ME+=—A=+—HILFE

18. LEASES AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 18. HERFRAREEE(H&)
(Continued)
Present value Present value
Lease of lease Lease of lease
payments payments payments payments
2024 2024 2023 2023
e HE

HENK ESIE HERT NFRE
—ECME —EIME —E-=F o=

HK$’000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET FET FET

Within one year —FR 1,888 1,808 3,926 3,679

In the second year FF 254 247 1,559 1,513

2,142 2,055 5,485 5,192

Future finance charges ARBEER (87) - (293) -

Present value of lease obligations RERERE 2,055 2,055 5,192 5,192
Less: Amount due for settlement within 12 i R12fE AREISEETE

months (shown under current liabilities) (REHEETYIR) (1,808) (3,679)

Non-current portion FEneEH 247 1,513

19. INVENTORIES 19. &E

2024 2023

—EZE —E-=F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FAETT FEIT

Raw materials R 571 7,966

Work in progress TS - 8,852

Finished goods IR S 1,625 23,686

2,196 40,504
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE—-T-ME+=—A=+—HILFE

20. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,

DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS

20. BREZRM - RERHEMEW
R ATERANKIE

2024 2023
—E-gE B
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Trade receivables FEUE ZBRR 18,277 30,239
Less: Impairment losses JR - OR(EEE (2,252) (2,067)
16,025 28,172
Bills receivable R = 20 578
Value-added tax receivables FEWEET 6,410 11,055
Consideration receivable from vendor of ERLENBAFH
disposal of subsidiaries (Note) FEWARAE (A i) 10,640 11,013
Amount due from the subsidiaries U E HEHBR RN
disposed (Note) SKIB(HTEE) 200,458 209,620
Prepayment, deposits and other receivables TERFIE ~ 5T REMEWFIE 22,233 30,846
255,786 291,284
Note: B3 -

On 10 October 2022, the Group disposed 64.6% indirectly owned subsidiary
Nanjing Rongzhou Cultural Industry Investment Company Limited* (E§ R &M X
(FEXIREBR/AT) at cash consideration of RMB20,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$23,200,000) to an independent third party. The amounts are
unsecured, non-interest bearing, and had no fixed term of repayment.

Trade receivables

The Group allows an average credit period of 30 to 60 days to its
customers which are state-owned enterprise or those with guarantee
provided, and cash on delivery for all other customers. The following is
an aging analysis of trade receivables, presented based on the invoice
date at the end of the years:

RZZEZ_F+A+H  RAEEUREREAR
#20,000,0007T (185574 4923,200,00078 7T ) [ 8
NEZHHEREEEC46%HIEARERE
MX(LEXKREFRAT - REA/EER 28
Ko B TEIE FREAR

FE W & 5 BRX

HRBEACERPRORBHERZER
AEE i T FIRKRMB0E60R : MATA
HEFPHYUNEERMZ T NETRS © A
TREREZIEFINEFERZERZAY
252 R DT -

2024 2023

—BEF ZEZ=F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET T

0 to 60 days 0Z60H 12,551 26,041
61 to 90 days 61290H 1,372 298
Over 90 days Q0B Ak 2,102 1,833
16,025 28,172
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20. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, 20. EWWEZRF - EE R HEMEK
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS (Continued) R ST RBEAREE)
Impairment of trade receivables W E S RFURE
Reconciliation of loss allowance for trade receivables: JRUNE BRI ISR B R ¢

2024 2023

—E-E T4

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

At beginning of the year NG (2,067) (1,398)

Impairment loss on trade receivables FEWE SR BE RS (261) (709)

Currency realignment B AR 76 40

At the end of the year RER (2,252) (2,067)

Impairment of other receivables H {th FE W BR FKRL(E

Recondiliation of loss allowance for other receivables: E At FEUR SR R E IR -

2024 2023

—E-_NE TEC=F

HK$°000 HK$’000

FET FEoT

At beginning of the year REH] (17,537) (10,804)

Impairment loss on other receivables HAb W BR 5K 2 R B B 18 (5,547) (7,050)

Written off the impairment loss for the year RNEE MR E 6,920 -

Currency realignment B 568 317

At the end of the year RER (15,596) (17,537)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE—-T-ME+=—A=+—HILFE

20. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, 20. EREZRN REREMER

DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS (Continued)
Trade receivables that are not impaired

The Group applies the simplified approach under HKFRS 9 “Financial
Instrument” to provide for expected credit losses using the lifetime

SRR~ Rl & RN FREGE)
S 398 3 2 B G 53 R K

AEERBEEMBRELENFHR S/
TRRTNZBEE - ERAKATBHEER

expected loss provision for all trade receivables. To measure the BEFERKE ZERBHREEEES
expected credit losses, trade receivables have been grouped based on IR - BEtETEHEEESE  BYRES

shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due. The expected
credit losses also incorporate forward looking information.

RRERBRABEERRSH MAHRH
D8 - BHREEEBRTE[AEEER -

Less than  Over 60 days
60 days and less than
Current past due 1 year Over 1 year Total
BY  AHRB60A
g8 60A M BIR—F —F5E @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
FET FAET FET FHET FET
At 31 December 2024 RZE-mE
+=A=+-8
Weighted average expected loss rate /#1578 HiE 1B X 0% 0% 0% 99%
Receivable amount iG] 9,611 3,527 2,888 2,271 18,297
Loss allowance BERE - - - (2,252) (2,252)
At 31 December 2023 R-ZBZ=fF
+=A=+-8
Weighted average expected loss rate  fI#EF15TE B B X 0% 0% 0% 53%
Receivable amount el &5 24,454 2,464 3 3,896 30,817
Loss allowance BERE - - - (2,067) (2,067)

Trade receivables that were not past due relate to a wide range of
customers who has no recent history of default. The Group does not
hold any collateral over these balances.

Trade receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a
number of independent customers that have a good track record with
the Group. Based on past experience, the management believes that no
impairment allowance is necessary in respect of these balances as there
has not been a significant change in credit quality and the balances are
still considered fully recoverable.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE—-T-ME+=—A=+—HILFE

21. BANK AND CASH BALANCES

At the end of year, bank and cash balances of the Group denominated
in RMB amounted equivalent to approximately HK$1,230,000 (2023:
HK$2,457,000). Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to
the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations.

As at 31 December 2024, certain subsidiaries of the Group are
defendants on the lawsuits in addition to those mentioned in Note 32
to the consolidated financial statements, accordingly bank balances
of these subsidiaries in total of approximately RMB752,000 which was
equivalent to approximately HK$800,000 (2023:RMB642,000 which was
equivalent to approximately HK$708,000) was frozen by the court.

s o

‘6

21. BITRBESERHR

RER - AEBUARBFEZERITRR
S EHEE R 41,230,000 (2 ==
F 2,457,000/ 70) © 1§ AR H IR AN
KBS R RHNEEIBIZHIRR

Eti_?_miJr A=+—H KA£H
ETHWB AR AkirA BEEE B KisEs2
Frigda & N AR T E - B EMN
BRRIMRITESRE XN AR 752,000
JT - FHE R 4800,000/8 T(— T - =4 :
ANR#E642,0007T + HE R 49708,000/7T)
AR R 4

22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 22 FENE SRS R EMENIEES

2024 2023

—E-MEF —EC=F

HK$°000 HK$’000

FET FET

Trade payables ERTE SRR 58,635 77,795
Amounts payable on acquisition of property, WM BEREEZ

plant and equipment FETRIAR 105,868 112,554

Accruals and other payables FERHE R R EMER IR 104,637 114,905

269,140 305,254

An aging analysis of the trade payables at the end of the reporting
period, based on invoice dates, is as follows:

AT RRBERRZERAREI 2 &N
B S RFRE DT

2024 2023

—EEF —E-=F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

0 to 60 days 0%£60H 750 29,182
61 to 90 days 61%290H 1,859 8,056
Over 90 days 90H M F 56,026 40,557
58,635 77,795
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23. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 23. EHNEE
Disclosures of revenue-related items: WAKBRETE B #255 -
As at As at As at
31 December 31 December 1 January
2024 2023 2023
R=ZZB-mE RIZT-=F RIZT_=F
+=ZA=+—8 +ZA=1+—H —H—H
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET
Total contract liabilities aHBERE 419 3,541 5,342
Transaction prices allocated to RERDEEERIEKEL
performance obligations unsatisfied BEEWEHRUTER
at end of year and expected to be ERAER G IR PE
recognised as revenue in:
- 2024 ——E_F - 3,608
- 2025 ——ZT-hF 424 -
424 3,608
2024 2023
—E_NE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Year ended 31 December HE+-A=+—RHLFE
Revenue recognised in the year that was included REFEAS N BEZ ER
in contract liabilities at beginning of year AW 3,250 5,022
Significant changes in contract liabilities during FREHNEBEZERET) !
the year:
Increase due to operations in the year RERHZEMmIBIM 253 3,377
Currency realignment HERAR (60) (137)
Transfer of contract liabilities to revenue ERENBERNE (3,315) (5,041)

BREEREARERKREFPREMAS
BEMIRETEFPZEE -

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
products or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration from the customer.
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24. BORROWINGS 24, B8

2024 2023
—E-E ZEC-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Other borrowing EmEE 30,965 48,113

Analysed as: PHTA
Secured A - -
Unsecured E i 30,965 48,113
30,965 48,113

R-ZZE-_NMF+-_A=+—H HMEE

At 31 December 2024, other borrowing of HK$30,965,000 (2023:
HK$48,113,000) was denominated is HKS$, unsecured and repayable
within 1 year. The effective interest rates per annum at the end of the

30,965,000/& 7L (—F = =4 : 48,113,000
ABIL) RIABTEHE - BIKR KA FR

years were as follows:

B - REFERNERFMNET

2024 2023
—EOEF —E=F
Borrowings: BE
Fixed-rate EB 8.00% 8.00%
The borrowings are repayable as follows: BEANATEEERE
2024 2023
—B-EF —EC=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
On demand or within one year mESRE—FE R 30,965 48,113

ZEZNFFERSE
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25. AMOUNT DUE TO THE CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDER

The amount is unsecured, non-interest bearing, and has no fixed term of
repayment.

26. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

The following are the detailed deferred tax liabilities recognised by the

25. BEERKRRARR

SEQEEN - R LEEEERYR -

26. EEFHIEEE

AT RASERR ZEEHBREZFE

Group.
Revaluation
of property,
plant and
equipment
BEEWE -
BERBE
HK$’000
FET
At 1 January 2023 R-ZE-=F—H—H 9,656
Credit to other comprehensive income SFARMEEW (528)
Currency realignment B (258)
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 R-ZTE_=F+-A=+—H
N_ZT_mME—-H—H 8,870
Credit to other comprehensive income FTAEM R EWE (4,081)
Currency realignment B (261)
At 31 December 2024 RZZEZFE+=—A=+—H 4,528

At the end of the reporting period, subject to the agreements with
the Hong Kong tax authority, the Group has unused tax losses
of approximately HK$278,763,000 (2023: HK$254,641,000) for
subsidiaries incorporated in Hong Kong and such tax losses may
be carried forward indefinitely. Subject to the agreements with the
PRC tax authority, the Group has unused tax losses of approximately
HK$367,832,000 (2023: HK$254,957,000) for subsidiaries incorporated
in PRC and such tax losses may be carried forward within 5 years. No
deferred tax asset has been recognised for these tax losses due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams of those subsidiaries.
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27. SHARE CAPITAL 27. R
Number of
Notes shares HK$'000
BiaF R17EH FET
Authorised: JETE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each 0108 L 2 E Bk
At 1 January 2023 R-ZE-_=9—H—H 2,000,000,000 200,000
Increase in authorised share capital JETE RRASIE AN 1 3,000,000,000 300,000
At 31 December 2023 and RZBE_=F+-A=+—HK
1 January 2024 —ZE_mMFE—F—H 5,000,000,000 500,000
Share consolidation and capital reduction &5 & G K& A& A< S1I5R 4 (4,500,000,000) (450,000
Sub-division DIF 4 4,500,000,000 450,000
At 31 December 2024 R-ZTE-ME+—-A=+—H 5,000,000,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITRHRE
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023 R-ZZE-_=F—H—H8 -
and 1 January 2024 —E-=F+-A=+—H
—E-NFE—AF—H 1,4883,486,700 148,349
Issue of shares upon rights issue AR BT 2 593,365,583 59,337
Issue of shares upon subscription of shares A sREE (7 B 25 1T (7D 3 120,000,000 12,000
Share consolidation, capital reduction and ~ B&{A&Gf - BEAEIE &5 1
sub-division 4 (1,977,167,055) (197,717)
At 31 December 2024 RZE-_mF+—_A=+—H 219,685,228 21,969
Notes HiaE
1. On 18 September 2023, the Company passed an ordinary resolution to 1. RIZIZEZ=FNLA+NA  AREBEB—
approve the authorised share capital of the Company be increased from BHEBRABRR  HEBBANAAFTRKRAK
HK$200,000,000 divided into 2,000,000,000 shares of HK$0.10 each to R EE SN 3% 3,000,000,000 A% 7K 3 17 3 i
HK$500,000,000 divided into 5,000,000,000 shares by the creation of an A%+ # AN 2 R) VA FE AR AN B2 200,000,0005%8
additional 3,000,000,000 unissued ordinary shares in the share capital of 7T (% £2,000,000,0000% &% FEI{E0.1078
the Company. 7T 2 B85 ) #8 A % 500,000,000 7T (5 A
5,000,000,000/%f% 7)) °
2. On 18 September 2023, the Company approved the proposed rights issue 2. RZZEZ=ZFNAFTNB » RAFBBEI

on the basis of three rights share for every four existing shares held at the
subscription price of HK$0.1 per rights share on a non-underwritten basis
(the “Rights Issue”). On 1 February 2024, 593,365,583 shares were issued
and allotted, related expenses of approximately HK$1,422,000 were
debited to the Company’s share premium account.

IEEEEERITTEZRER S ENRR
DR = R - RBEATRER
BR0AETT(ERR]) - RZZZNFE A
—H - 593,365,583 8% {7 T R % 1T R AL
2% AR X 491,422,000/8 L B 5T A
RRIRMDEERE -

I NFEFERE
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27. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes (Continued)

3.

On 20 September 2024, the Company entered into the subscription
agreement with the subscriber in respect of the subscription of
120,000,000 ordinary shares at a price of HK$0.10 per share (the
“Subscription”). On 7 October 2024, the said shares were issued and
allotted, related expenses of approximately HK$260,000 were debited to
the Company’s share premium account.

At the special general meeting held by the Company on 13 December
2024, a special resolution was passed in regard of the capital
reorganisation with effect from 17 December 2024 which comprise the
followings:

@)

every ten issued and unissued shares at the time being of par value
of HK$0.1 each were consolidated into one consolidated share of
par value of HK$1.0 each (the “Consolidated Share(s)”) (the “Share
Consolidation”);

immediately after the Share Consolidation becoming effective, the
issued share capital of the Company was reduced to the effect that
the par value of each issued Consolidated Share be reduced from
HK$1.0 to HK$0.1 (the “New Share(s)”) (the “Capital Reduction”);
and

immediately following the Share Consolidation and the Capital
Reduction becoming effective, each authorised but unissued
Consolidated Share of par value of HK$1.0 was subdivided into
ten authorised but unissued new shares of par value of HK$0.1
each (the “Sub-division”). Therefore immediately following the
Share Consolidation, the Capital Reduction and the Sub-division
(collectively, the “Capital Reorganisation”), the authorised share
capital of the Company remains at HK$500,000,000 divided into
5,000,000,000 New Shares with par value of HK$0.1 each, and
the issued share capital of the Company at the time being was
reduced by HK$197,717,000 from HK$219,686,000 divided into
2,196,852,283 shares to HK$21,969,000 divided into 219,685,228
New Shares.
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RZZ-MWFEAA-+E » AAFEDE
NSRS - AEFRRERD0.1058
T ) 3R B (8 g 3 K %% 17120,000,000 % &
BER(RBEE]) - N -_WF+A+
B Fillim B REITRECE - HERAX
#9260,0007%8 7T B 5H AR &) % 10 35 (B Bk
E o

RZZ_NF+=A+=BRITHRER
BIRE £ —IHERBRAEAZFRIRE
CEBS BT -mWE+—HA++tAHE
=y AN (I N S

@ MNERSTRSREERIETZ
BEITRABETRO A R —KE
ER1.0BTZA G (TEH KR
B D RBEH])

b EBEROEIERIE - ARREE
TRAREREETOETZE T
Ao EIRZ0 BT ([ #RE )
(TRRAHIR )+ K2

€  BEERMDA G RAAEIREEME
BREE1.0B L ATBRAETE
B DI AT IREREE.1E T
RIERTERRETHRMD ([2F]) -
Eitt - BEEBERG SO BRAEIR
RoF(GEaRAEA])E - K
A A A TE B AN # £F /500,000,000
T 9 /A5,000,000,000% 5 B
B0 1B TTMFARG - MARRER
H) B 877 B% 7K F1 219,686,000 7% 7T
(7 52,196,852,283k% % (7)) * L
197,717,000/ 7T 221,969,000/ 7T
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27. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

28.

Capital management

The Group’s primary objective when managing capital is to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can
continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders, by pricing products and services commensurately with the
level of risk and by securing access to finance at a reasonable cost. The
Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern and to maximise the return to the
shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it,
in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or adjust the
capital structure, the Group may adjust the payment of dividends, issue
new shares, buyback shares, raise new debts, redeem existing debts or
sell assets to reduce debts.

27. RA (&)

BEXEE

AEEEEEANTIZABRIAREARAE
BRELENE N 2B BRERR
KPS EE R MRS TE (B S A& A AR
BE - AR RR S R A K A A 2
HEEXE - AREEREAE - URE
AEBAFERLE 2N - RFEEEL
EENEAFE - BRRFMEAERL
Bi% -

AEBREEERBECEEEAREY
EHAR - BERKABRERRRE A%
BRI REA R AR « BEITHA - MK
o~ FIBER  BRRAEBILEEE
PURBR &R

RESERVES 28. f#fE
(a) The amounts of the Group’s reserves and movements therein are (a) AEBzHESENMESHFIBENEG
presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other AR EMEERER MG E R
comprehensive income and consolidated statement of changes in HENRZT o
equity.
(b) Reserves of the Company (b) EARZFEME
Capital
Share  redemption  Contributed Accumulated
premium reserve surplus losses Total
ROEE BRAREREE BARS RitER st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FETL FET FET FET
At 1 January 2023 RZE-=F—F—H 824,140 624 29,509 (546,509) 307,768
Loss for the year AEEER - - - (52,332) (52,332)
At 31 December 2023 and R-B-=Ft-A=t-BR
1 January 2024 “E-¥-F—H 824,140 624 29,509 (598,837) 255,436
Loss for the year rEEER - - - (119,265) (119,255)
Issue of shares upon Rights Issue MRS 247117 (1,422) - - - (1,422)
Issue of shares upon Subscription  FAFREE R (DS BT
of shares (260) - - - (260)
Capital Reduction BRAEIR - - - 197,717 197,717
At 31 December 2024 RZEZNE+ZA=T—H 822,458 624 29,509 (520,379 332,216
—E_NFFERE XEERARAT

s o
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28. RESERVES (Continued)

(c)

Nature and purpose of reserves of the Group

(i)

(i)

(i)

(iv)

Share premium

Share premium represents premium arising from the issue of
shares at a price in excess of their par value per share and is
not distributable but may be applied in paying up unissued
shares of the Company to be issued to the shareholders of
the Company as fully paid bonus shares or in providing for
the premiums payable on repurchase of shares.

Capital redemption reserve

Capital redemption reserve arose from the reduction of the
nominal value of the issued share capital of the Company
upon the cancellation of the repurchased shares.

Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation of the
financial statements of foreign operations. The reserve is
dealt with in accordance with the accounting policies set out
in Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

Asset revaluation reserve

Assets revaluation reserve has been set up and are dealt
with in accordance with the accounting policies adopted for
property, plant and equipment in Note 4 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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29. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS

29. RERERBRME

(a) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities (a)

METHELE2EEED

The following table shows the Group’s changes in liabilities arising
from financing activities during the year:

TREJNFARNEERERDELEZ

£ 8

Amount due to Total liabilities
the controlling Lease from financing
Borrowings shareholder liabilities activities
PEfH 2 RY MEEH
BE R R AR HESE EEEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FET FET
At 1 January 2023 RZE-_=%—H—H 52,785 545 9,493 62,823
Changes in cash flows Rehesd (8,838) 6) (5,217) (14,061)
Non-cash changes JERgE
- Addition —-AE - - 2,529 2,529
— Transferred to other payables —8 A\ HfRAERR - - (1,919) (1,919
- Interest expenses —Fl B8R 4,166 - 611 4,777
— Currency realignment — A - - (305) (305)
At 31 December 2023 and RZZE-=%+-A
1 January 2024 —t—HERZZ-MF
—A—H 48,113 539 5,192 53,844
Changes in cash flows BenmEs (19,797) (404) (1,243) (21,444)
Non-cash changes FIREEH
- Addition —AE - - 710 710
- Transferred to other payables — 8 A\ H b ERBREC - - (2,054) (2,054)
— Interest expenses —FERA% 2,649 - 259 2,908
~ Currency realignment —BHAR - - (809) (809)
At 31 December 2024 RZZE-_MF+_A
=+—H 30,965 135 2,055 33,155
(b) Major non-cash transaction b) EEHFEREXRS

During the year, the issued share capital of the Company with
par value of HK$1.0 each reduced to HK$0.1 each after Capital
Reduction. The issued share capital of the Company at the time
being was reduced by HK$197,717,000 from HK$219,686,000
and transferred to accumulated losses directly (Note 27).

RER - RRFEETRAEER
BRABIREBEFR10BTTRD ES
BRO1ET - ERMEETHRAR
219,686,000/% T 4197,717,0007%
T EEREAREREE (FEE27) »
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30. SUMMARISED FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

30. AR B AR E

COMPANY
2024 2023
—E-gE B
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Non-current assets FRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries REBARIZIRE - -
Current assets RBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUSBH B A Al Z BRX 434,881 518,998
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments  EfthEUBRTL -« 5] & RFEFIE 307 357
Amount due from the Controlling Shareholder i U322 A% A% B8 BR 7k 8,247 1,681
Bank and cash balances IRITMIRE 5 2,010 67
445,445 521,103
Current liabilities RBaE
Accruals and other payables FERH B R R E A FERTBR SR 53,695 51,211
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEASHIT B A J1BR AR 6,600 17,994
Other borrowings Hibfg g 30,965 48,113
91,260 117,318
Net current assets REEEFE 354,185 403,785
NET ASSETS EEZE 354,185 403,785
Capital and reserves BEARRGHE
Share capital A&7 21,969 148,349
Reserves & 332,216 255,436
TOTAL EQUITY EREE 354,185 403,785
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31. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

32.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group and the Company did not
have any significant contingent liabilities (2023: Nil).

LITIGATIONS

As at 31 December 2024, certain subsidiaries of the Company were
involved in litigation or claims of material importance arising in the
ordinary course of business as follows:

On 10 January 2022, a contractor of Tesson New Energy Company
Limited* (KE #1828 A R A 7)) (“Tesson New Energy”), a subsidiary of
the Group, filed a claim against Tesson New Energy for the payment of
construction cost and overdue interest. A judgment was issued on 29
December 20283 ordering Tesson New Energy, among other things, to
pay a judgment sum of approximately RMB12,164,000. The contractor
filed an appeal on 10 January 2024. On 9 September 2024, a judgement
was issued, ordering Tesson New Energy, among other things, to pay
a sum of approximately RMB15,924,000. The Group intends to use the
proceed from the trade and other receivables to settle the judgment
debt. The Directors are of the view that the aforesaid judgment would
not have a material adverse effect on the results of operations or financial
conditions of the Group.

In 2022, a non-controlling shareholder of Tesson New Energy filed a
claim against Tesson New Energy for the payment of approximately
RMB11,000,000 for capital reduction and overdue interest. A judgment
was issued on 9 December 2022 ordering Tesson New Energy, among
other things, to pay a judgment sum of approximately RMB11,000,000.
On 6 November 2024, the court delivered an execution order to
proceed an auction on a land parcel held by Tesson New Energy. On
12 November 2024, Tesson New Energy filed an execution objection
application to the court. As at the date of this report, the application is
still being processed.

As at 31 December 2024, certain subsidiaries of the Group are
defendants on the lawsuits in addition to the above mentioned,
accordingly bank balances of these subsidiaries in total of approximately
RMB752,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$800,000) was frozen
by the court. The Group was also involved in a dispute on certain
investments in the subsidiaries with the non-controlling shareholders
of these subsidiaries. The Group’s management believed that the
claim was without merit and the possibility of a significant loss arising
from the dispute was remote and therefore no provision of the claims
was considered necessary. Save as disclosed above, during the year
ended 31 December 2024, no member of the Group is subject to any
litigation, arbitration or claim of material importance and no litigation or
claim of material importance is known to the Directors to be pending or
threatened against any member of the Group.

31.

32.

HAREE

RIREHR - NEBRAQ B W E(F (] E
AKAREBE(ZE_=F : ) -

AR AR

R-Z-NMFE+-_A=+—H ARQXAE
THBRARES 2 ANEBEKBRERES
RE KT EZRNT

RZZE-—F—AF+H AEE—HEHE
NEIRBEFMERERAR ([ REHEER])
B—ZEBRRERKENERIERFNR B
KRB FREIR AT B A s AR 8. o
HRER - E-_=ZF+_A-+HhLB%
it B2 REFLR(EFEE) AR
TEHARE12,164,0007T ° HBEL
T_NF— A+ HIRELESF - HRER =
TZMFERANBEL  BESXKEMER
(e S &34 A R15,924,000
UL e NEBBBAREWE SRR R EMmE
WER BT B R ENZEHREE - &
RBAE - FHAATEEREBMLEZE
Ek B SR IER E AT 2 -

R-ZT - —F —ZREFHERIFERR
R KEFERIERFA - BREAR
BRI E E A B 49 A R #11,000,0007T ©
FIRAEBERZEZZFF+_ANAEL B
SREMER(EFEET) I HHASTEL
A R #11,000,0007T c —F = F + —
ARNB  ERTERTS - UABEREN
BEREAN—IELM - — T _PUFE+—A
B REHFERMARRERRITES
B EBEAREAH  ZHEBNEERE
q:n o

R-Z-MFE+-A=+—H  AEBE
THIBA R I AR EFFRAINEMERRZ
WE - FAILZEHBEARIMIEITASRE
# A R #752,0007T (18 & 7 47800,000%
T AR R o AEEHE THEB A
RIS E B2 S M B A B B JE 1 A% A% B B
EAE  c AEBEERERE  ZRBEE
B AZAUADERERBRNAEEERE
N BAEREBEFTTIRRE o B EXAE
BEN - BE_TE-_ME+_-_A=+—8H
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33. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group’s capital commitments at the end of the year are as follows:

33.

BAESE

RER - AEB 2 EAFENT

2024 2023
—E-ME TEC=F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
Contracted but not provided for EEEEES T
— Property, plant and equipment —WE - BB K& 12,088 34,265
— Investment in an associate —R—EEE AR E 19,150 19,823
31,238 54,088

At 31 December 2024, the acquisition of investment in an associate
was secured by the pledge of property, plant and equipment held by
the Group with carrying value of approximately HK$634,000 (2023:
HK$5,812,000), which the acquisition is not yet completed.

34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Group had no transactions with its related parties during the year
and last year.

Key management personnel remuneration

The emoluments of the Company’s Directors, who are also identified as
members of key management of the Group, are set out in Note 14.
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35. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF 35. K RIFEM B AR 2ER
THE COMPANY

The table below lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the TREVNEERASHAFEEEEASE
opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results for the year or A ENBERAEBTERAETBESLD 2
formed a substantial portion of the financial position of the Group. To ARABMNBAR - EERE - MHHIHM
give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the Directors, WEARIZFE  2FERBRITE -

result in particulars of excessive length.

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at the end of the RER AT TERBATIZERINT :
years are as follows:

Place of
incorporation/ Percentage of
registration/ Issued/paid-up the Company’s indirect
Name operation capital ownership interest Principal activities
R/ KATIMEE
&R e BRI/ HERE RERZENGNY TEEK
Notes 2024 2023
lifig “ECRE —TC=F
Tesson New Energy (Shen Zhen) Limited* 1 The PRC RMB850,000,000 95.00% 95.00%  Trading of lithium ion
battery products
REFERORI)BRAR] t AR 850,000,007 ERERTE0ER
Tesson New Energy Company Limited* 2 The PRC RMB500,000,000 65.36% 65.36%  Manufacturing of lithium
ion battery products
KEHEFRBRAT s AR #500,000,0007T EEBETENER
Tessan New Energy (Weinan) Limited™ 2 The PRC RMB450,000,000 100% 100%  Manufacturing of lithium
ion battery products
AR OBE)BRAR s AR #450,000,0007T EEBETENER
Notes HiaF
1. The company is a sino-foreign equity joint venture established in the PRC. 1. ZARABRFBBIKZHFINEEDRE -
2. These companies are limited liability company established in the PRC. 2. WERRARFEKIHNBRAR -

*

For identification purpose only
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IRE MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE—-T-ME+=—A=+—HILFE

35. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF
THE COMPANY (Continued)

The following table shows information of subsidiaries that have non-
controlling interests (“NCI”) material to the Group as at 31 December
2024. The summarised financial information represents amounts before
inter-company eliminations.

35. XA EEMBELR 2EHR(E)

TRIWTAZE-_NF+_A=+—0%
EHAEEMEBEANZ IR ([ 3
PERER ) ZHBRATZER o A%
BREIEEBANA R BT 2 &5

Tesson New Energy

Name Company Limited”
=51 REFEERERATN
2024 2023
—E-E —EC-F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
Principal place of business and T E B BB LA R PRC
country of incorporation m
% of ownership interests and EERERREECHEEREER R
voting rights held by NCI WEREZ BN (%) 34.64% 34.64%
At 31 December: R+=B=+—8:
Non-current assets ERBEE 91,996 114,653
Current assets MEEE 39,861 44,463
Current liabilities mENEE (679,773) (671,819)
Non-current liabilities EmBAE - -
Net liabilities BEFE (547,916) (512,703)
Accumulated NCI REH IR ER (189,798) (177,600)
Year ended 31 December: BE+-A=1t—HLEE:
Revenue Iz - -
Loss for the year KFEEZEHE (37,598) (6,023)
Total comprehensive loss e Spi=Fekl (35,213) (16,422)
Loss allocated to NCI HELE IR 2 1R (13,024) (2,086)
Dividends distributed to NCI B9 T IR 2 IS - -
Net cash used in operating activities KETRENFTR 2 RS 5 (6) (692)
Net cash used in investing activities WEEESFA RS F5E - (1,267)
Net cash used in financing activities BEEBFTH R e R - -
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents ReRReSEY 2R FRE (6) (1,959)
A included its subsidiaries A BIREWB AT
36. APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 36. HLESZEIKERE
STATEMENTS
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The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the Board of Directors on 28 March 2025.

HEMBRECHEFEN _T_RF=
A=\ BHUAE R RT3 -
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Tesson Holdings Limited

Room 401A, Empire Centre, 68 Mody Road,
Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong

BB IR B685: TRl 401AE

Tel B3E (852) 3520 3000
Fax 8 E (852) 3520 3181
Website #91F  www.tessonholdings.com
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